
 

 

Agenda - Culture, Communications, Welsh Language, 

Sport, and International Relations Committee 
Meeting Venue: 

Video Conference via Zoom 

Meeting date: 2 February 2022 

Meeting time: 09.30

For further information contact: 

Lleu Williams 

Committee Clerk 

0300 200 6565  

SeneddCulture@senedd.wales
------ 

In accordance with Standing Order 34.19, the Chair has determined 

that the public are excluded from attending the Committee's meeting 

in order to protect public health. This meeting will be broadcast live 

on www.senedd.tv  

 

Pre-meeting registration  

(09.00-09.30) 

1 Introductions, apologies, substitutions and declarations of 

interest 

(09.30)   

2 One day inquiry on International Relations: Diaspora and 

international 

(09.30-10.15) (Pages 1 - 11)  

Susie Ventris-Field, Chief Executive Officer, Welsh Centre for International 

Affairs  

Claire O’Shea, Chair, Wales Overseas Agencies Group   

Zara May, Head of Community and Operations, Global Welsh 

 

Research Brief 

Break  

(10.15-10.25) 

------------------------ Public Document Pack ------------------------



 

 

3 One day inquiry on International Relations: Europe and 

international 

(10.25-11.10)   

Jenny Scott, Director, British Council 

Charles Whitmore, Research Associate from the Wales Governance Centre 

Ben Lloyd, Head of Policy, WCVA  

Berwyn Davies, Head of Office, Welsh Higher Education Brussels 

Break  

(11.10-11.20) 

4 One day inquiry on International Relations: Sports, culture and 

arts (international) 

(11.20-12.05) (Pages 12 - 23)  

Noel Mooney, Chief Executive Officer, Football Association Wales  

Eluned Hâf, Head, Wales Arts International   

Sian Lewis, Chief Executive Officer, Urdd Gobaith Cymru   

 

Written evidence from Wales Arts International 

Written evidence from Urdd Gobaith Cymru 

5 Papers to note 

(12.05)   

5.1 Welsh Government response to the Culture, Communications, Welsh 

Language, Sport, and International Relations Committee’s 'Small Screen: Big 

Debate' Report 

 (Pages 24 - 26)  

5.2 Letter from the Deputy Minister for Arts and Sport, and Chief Whip to the 

Chair of the Culture, Communications, Welsh Language, Sport, and 

International Relations Committee regarding the Term of Government Remit 

Letters to Welsh Government Sponsored Bodies 

 (Pages 27 - 83)  



 

 

6 Motion under Standing Order 17.42 to resolve to exclude the 

public from the remainder of the meeting 

(12.05)   

7 Private debrief 

(12.05-12.10)   

8 Scrutiny of Welsh Government Draft Budget 2022-23: 

Consideration of draft Report 

(12.10-12.20) (Pages 84 - 102)  

9 Review of the committee timetable and committee remits: 

Consideration of draft correspondence 

(12.20-12.25) (Pages 103 - 106)  

10 Legislative Consent Memorandum on the Cultural Objects 

(Protection from seizure) Bill: Consideration of Legal Advice Note 

(12.25-12.30) (Pages 107 - 114)  



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 1

Agenda Item 2By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



1 
 

 

 

 

A snapshot of Wales Arts International’s International Work and Strategy  

A bridge between Wales and the World  

 

 

Wales Arts International supports a global outlook to the arts and culture of Wales and contribute 

towards Wales’ global responsibility and to raising the profile of Wales internationally. Our 

investment in the sector enables experiences, relationships and activities that bridge the local with 

the global.  

 

By offering a gateway between the arts of Wales and the world, Wales Arts 

International is a think-do tank for the Arts Council and the arts in Wales. It provides 

professional expertise and leadership that helps the Arts Council overall to research, 

test and deliver its international objectives. 

 

The international activities of Arts Council of Wales extend across the whole of our organisation and 

across the breadth and depth of our investments. These activities are often (but not exclusively) 

developed, supported and / or co-ordinated by our in-house agency, 

Wales Arts International (WAI). 

 

WAI’s small core team of staff work with individuals across all of Arts Council’s portfolio, 

as well as with Welsh Government officials, Arts Councils in the other UK Nations, British Council 

and international partners across the world. We work in partnership to develop a focused ambition 

and to realise the combined international potential of the sector we fund and support and of the 

institutions with shared responsibility. 

 

WAI’s purpose is to 

• ensure Welsh artists engage internationally; 

• help develop and enrich artistic practice, careers and ambition; 

• grow new global opportunities for the arts and culture of Wales; 

• invest in artistic collaborations that inspire and connect people in diverse communities in 

Wales. 

 

 

 

Pack Page 12

Agenda Item 4



2 
 

 

As well as supporting the Council’s corporate objectives and the arts sector’s international ambitions 

(as identified in the International Strategy and corporate plan) WAI has a 3-year strategic 

partnership agreement (2020-23) with Welsh Government’s International Relations Department in 

the First Minister’s team. Through the agreement WAI develops international projects and relations 

that support the realisation of Welsh Government’s International Strategy and action plans.  

 

The agreement sets out: 

 

• A shared programme of work in key markets; 

• Global communications campaigns;  

• Funding arrangements; 

• Develop the methodology for evaluating international work against the seven goals of the 

Well-being of Future Generations Act to ensure the agreement is yielding tangible benefits.   

 

WAI works with various Welsh Government teams including in-country offices. Our current 

geographic focus is Canada, France, Germany, Ireland, India and Japan.  

 

We also develop strategic partnerships with international organisations and agencies, including 

overseas government offices and embassies operating within the UK, and with pan international 

networks to develop programmes of mutual value and benefit.  

 

Highlights of our international programme in 2021 include:  

 

In 2021 WAI set out to re-think our international work in the context of four seismic global 

challenges which are felt locally in Wales – the Covid Pandemic, Climate Emergency and social 

justice and equalities, and establishing new international relationships following the EU exit.  

 

We have recently also commissioned work to develop a logic model to guide our decision making 

and a new evaluation framework to measure our international programme and investments against 

the seven goals of the Well-being of Future Generations Act.  

 

We’ve supported the creation of Disability Arts Cymru’s Give us our Creative Right Manifesto and 

Watch Africa Cymru report “Smooth Seas Don’t Make Skillful Sailors” and subsequent project 

Language is Treasure celebrating the diverse languages of Wales.  

 

 

Pack Page 13



3 
 

 

Global communications campaign 

 

Launched as part of St Davids Day in lockdown 2021, our global campaign #PethauBychain 

#SmallThings highlights how doing the small things can make a difference in our communities, to 

our planet, our own wellbeing, and for future generations. It features a wealth of creative content 

made accessible to view globally through our social media. Our channel on AM Cymru – 

https://www.amam.cymru/waicymruwales - has been created and curated by individual artists and 

companies in Wales responding in their own ways to the 7 Wellbeing Goals of the Future 

Generations Act. 

 

We resumed the #PethauBychain campaign in November 2021, sharing the messages of the 7 

Wellbeing Goals through the arts on a weekly basis. 

 

Embedding the Arts and culture into Brand Cymru  

 

Welsh Government’s diaspora approach supports its new international strategy to “deliver our 

priorities and be recognised internationally as a nation committed to creativity, sustainability 

and technology.”  The Government’s target of engaging with “500,000 of the Welsh diaspora, 

alumni and friends of Wales around the world, using the wealth of knowledge they possess and 

their links to raise Wales’ profile globally” is one new focus for the arts.  

 

Covid19 has changed the context for the International Strategy and whilst normal profile raising 

activities have been paused there is an opportunity to bridge the diaspora approach with the 

wellbeing culture being developed for the Wales brand and to develop digital content to support 

the brand.  

In its international strategy Arts Council of Wales’ international agency Wales Arts International 

commits to identify opportunities for the arts, cultural and creative industries to contribute to and 

benefit from Welsh Government’s international ambitions….. and to the global citizenship 

ambition of the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act. “Placing the arts at the centre of Welsh 

Government’s international strategy and branding will help to project Wales’ unique cultural 

identity and global personality in a post Brexit (and CV19) world.”  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Pack Page 14

https://www.amam.cymru/waicymruwales


4 
 

 

International market engagement and activity 

 

Year of Wales in Germany:  

Although significantly impacted by Covid 19, the year has featured online seminars and exchanges; 

a delegation visit by Amgueddfa Cymru; a survey mapping artists working in Germany and funding 

provided through our International Opportunities Fund. Artists supported include seven north Wales 

based visual artists, featured as part of CARN (Caernarfon Artist Regional Network)’s pop-up 

exhibition at Neukölln 48hrs festival, Berlin.  An arts and health collaboration between Welsh music 

prize winner Kelly Lee Owens and Berlin artist Lindred has been postponed into 2022 due to tour 

cancellations. Through our latest round of International Opportunities funding at the end of 2021, 

we supported some projects connecting artists in Wales with Germany, many of which will take 

place in 2022.  We’re also hopeful of a further round of the Cultural Bridge programme in 2022. 

 

Ireland:  

Following on from activity in Ireland for St David’s Day 2020, we have continued to support artistic 

connections between Wales and Ireland.  Under the shared Statement of Intent, signed by Welsh 

and Irish governments in March 2021, we have begun working with our counterparts in Arts Council 

Ireland towards a Memorandum of Understanding and exploring joint areas for future activity.  As 

the event in Wales Climate week demonstrated, developing sustainable touring routes is part of that 

conversation.  Through our International Opportunities fund, we supported Dirty Protest Theatre and 

Fishamble’s online exploration of creative collaborations.   

 

Japan:  

With investment from Bunkacho (Cultural Agency of Government of Japan), digital workshops 

hosted by Wales’ Aloud (Only Men Aloud) for school choirs in Oita, Kitakyushu and Kumamoto 

culminated in filmed performances in Japan in April 2021. This has formed part of the legacy of the 

cultural programme developed by WAI around Rugby World Cup 2019 and a marker for deepening 

future cultural activity between the two countries.  

 

International Indigenous Music Summit:  

In preparation for the launch of Mawr y Rhai Bychain – the first international indigenous music 

festival in Wales developed by Neuadd Ogwen in Bethesda - and to prepare for a year of 

collaboration between Wales and Canada in 2022, WAI supported Neuadd Ogwen and leading 

musician Lisa Jên to attend the hybrid the summit event.  

 

 

Pack Page 15



5 
 

WOMEX 2021: 

Wales Arts International represented Wales as part of the Horizons partnership at WOMEX 2021 

and hosted networking events and participated on panel discussions on artist mobility with On the 

Move, the European network for Artist mobility.  

 

Focus Wales Wrexham: 

The twice cancelled event returned in force in October 2021 and welcomed international delegates 

from across the world, with a particular focus on Canada and Quebec. The showcase programme 

featured an exciting strand of MOBO music from Wales including artists like Mace the Great who 

has been invited to showcase in several international events on the back of their performance at 

Focus Wales.  WAI’s partnership with Focus Wales has enabled many digital collaborations and 

events during lockdown, including music industry and public facing performances and panel events 

between Wales and Canada.  

 

UK Four Nations International Partnership between Arts Councils  

Arts Infopoint UK:  

A pilot initiative to support the arts sector with information on practical issues relating to artist 

mobility which is co-funded by Arts Council of Wales, Welsh Government, Scottish Government, Arts 

Council of England and Arts Council of Northern Ireland, and delivered by Wales Arts International 

in partnership with Creative Scotland, Arts Council of Northern Ireland and Arts Council of Wales. 

The Infopoint team have run a programme of workshops across the year to support Welsh and UK 

artists to overcome barriers to work internationally as a result of the exit from the EU and Covid, and 

to advise and encourage international artists to work in Wales and the UK.  

 

4 Nations International Collaboration Fund: 

In partnership with Arts Council England, Arts Council Northern Ireland and Creative Scotland, 

Wales Arts International has been actively supporting the development of a new international 

collaboration fund for artists to collaborate with partners in the UK four nations and internationally. 

The full list of funded projects will be shared mid January 2022.  

 

The Cultural Bridge Partnership with Germany’s Fonds Soziokultur Fund, Goethe Institut in London 

and the British Council is another 4 nations collaboration Valleys Kids and German partner Emanuel 

Geibel School and Lübeck University of Musik are one of the awarded collaborative projects of the 

new pilot fund encouraging socially engaged collaboration between Wales and Germany. 

 

 

 

Pack Page 16



6 
 

Wellbeing of Future Generations Goals. Climate Emergency and Climate Justice 

 

A new partnership between WAI and Future Generations Commissioner supports the role of the 

Future Generations Poet in Residence. It also supported the Wales COP26 Green zone event, which 

featured the creation of the empty chair for Future Generations by the National Eisteddfod and the 

Blot-deuwedd film by Ynys Blastig. WAI contributed to and attended the wider programme at COP 

and engaged with a number of leading global thinkers on the power and responsibility of the arts in 

terms of Climate Emergency and climate justice; these conversations were shared back into the 

sector in Wales through online key conversations such as through the Climate Week Cymru.   

 

WAI hosted a discussion as part of Wales Climate Week with international guests on the theme of 

International Touring and Climate Emergency: Curtain Raiser or Showstopper and can be seen from 

1:04:20 here. We have also maximised our participation in international networks such as On The 

Move and IETM to explore Climate Emergency, climate justice and de-colonisation.  

 

We have also supported the new partnership between Natural Resources Wales and Arts Council of 

Wales, including the launch of Future Fellowships in 2022.  

 

Funding for artist led international activity 

 

International Opportunities Fund:  

WAI reopened its longstanding fund for artist led activity, with the majority of the 41 artist 

collaborations, R&D and networking taking place digitally whilst many travel restrictions continued. 

Activity demonstrated the range of countries connected with Wales, from Brasil to Ethiopia, Germany 

to Indonesia.  

 

International Showcase Fund  

WAI partners with PRS for Music Foundation and other UK partners to fund musicians invited to 

showcase in international events. Although many of the showcases have been postponed or 

presented digitally, we are hoping that 2022 will bring more live events such as SXSW, Showcase 

Scotland, New SkoolRules and Classical Next.  

 

 

 

 

 

Pack Page 17

https://vimeo.com/650583905?embedded=true&source=video_title&owner=39711098


7 
 

 

Things to look out for and support in 2022:  

 

Showcase Scotland and Celtic Connections:  

On 2-4 February 2022, Wales will be the featured international partner at Showcase Scotland, a 

showcase and international music trade event featuring talent from Scotland plus an annual 

international partner, which takes place annually during the Celtic Connections Festival in Glasgow. 

Due to the current Covid-19 restrictions, the live 5-day Showcase Scotland programme has been 

replaced with a 3-day online digital event. Celtic Connections is due to proceed as a hybrid event, 

with a reduced programme of live shows and an accompanying digital offer.  

 

The focal point of the digital programme will be an online Spotlight Cymru Wales Reception at 

Showcase Scotland at 15:00-16:00 on Friday 4 February to coincide with Dydd Miwsig Cymru 

(Welsh Language Music Day), an annual celebration of Welsh language music both in Wales and 

internationally. The event will feature showcase performances from 6 Welsh artists (N’famady 

Kouyaté, Eve Goodman, Pedair, Cynefin, The Trials of Cato and NoGood Boyo) in front of global 

music industry delegates, leading to career development and increased touring opportunities.  

 

This is a key opportunity to present a diverse, inclusive, bold, contemporary Wales, to challenge 

international perceptions of what ‘Welsh’ music is and carve out a space for it under the broader 

umbrella of ‘Celtic’ music (which an international audience traditionally associates with Irish/Scottish 

traditional music). 

 

A delegation of international festivals was due to visit North Wales immediately after Showcase 

Scotland for the launch of Mawr y Rhai Bychain, the first international indigenous music festival 

programmed by Neuadd Ogwen Bethesda, but this event has been postponed due to the current 

Covid-19 restrictions.  

 

Gwrando - Listening at the start of the UN Decade of Indigenous Languages: 

To mark the first year, WAI will run Gwrando | Listening - a programme of activities to listen to the 

endangered languages of the world particularly those affected by climate emergency.   

 

 

 

 

 

Pack Page 18



8 
 

 

 

Wales in Canada and Canada Goes Cymru:  

Two distinct but linked seasons aimed at raising the profile of each nation in country, igniting new 

relationships and nurturing existing connections, and asking questions jointly about our futures. 

Wales in Canada will be led by Welsh Government and Canada Goes Cymru by High Commission 

of Canada in the UK, with WAI the strategic and connecting partner for arts and culture activity.  

 

Preparing for Year of Wales in France 2023 

As we look forward to the year of Wales in France 2023, we will be looking to further develop and 

strengthen our connections with Brittany in particular, in partnership with Spectacle Vivant en 

Bretagne.  We’re also developing a pilot visual arts programme with our 4 nations sister agencies.  

And we will continue to support artists and companies from Wales to work on collaborative projects 

through our International Opportunities Fund. 

 

Continuing with our partnership with Ireland: 

In 2022 we’ll be looking to agree our MOU with the Arts Council of Ireland; to commission a 

mapping report of the artistic connections between Wales and Ireland; and to work on activity 

particularly looking at sustainable touring and strengthening links with our nearest EU neighbour in 

a post Brexit world. 

 

Review of our International Opportunities Fund to ensure that it supports the development of 

international connections by a greater range of artists from Wales, and responds to global 

conversations on climate justice, climate emergency and fair collaboration.  

 

St David’s Day 2022 will build on the #PethauBychain campaign with even more creative content 

(and hopefully some live events Covid permitting!)  

Pack Page 19



1 / 4 
Ionawr 20222 

 

 
 
 
 
Overview of Urdd Gobaith Cymru’s international engagement and priorities in response to 
the one-day inquiry on international relations by the Culture, Communications, Welsh 
Language, Sport, and International Relations Committee. 
 
Urdd Gobaith Cymru is Wales’ longest serving National Youth Organisation providing Sport, Cultural, 

Humanitarian and Residential opportunities for children and young people that enable them to make 

a positive contribution to the community.  

Established in 1922, the Urdd has nurtured generations of young people to be proud of their country, 

open to others and living embodiments of our language and culture, along with the universal values 

which we cherish in Wales.  

Our aim stands the same as it was in 1922, to create globally aware young people, proud of their 

language and heritage and open to the world. 

Our international projects are delivered with our partners to amplify the story of Wales as a successful, 

confident, vibrant, and open nation and to give our members transformational opportunities, changes 

in aspirations and self-confidence, 

Over the past 3 years the Urdd has reignited international collaborations for its members with projects 

in Kenya, Alabama, Patagonia, Hungary, Brussels, Australia, and Japan and worldwide through its 

annual peace message.  

Our international ambition engagement Welsh Government’s International Work 

We currently receive match funding from Welsh Government’s International department, £100,000 

during 2021-2022, to develop and coordinate our international projects.  

The programmes support the Welsh government international ambition as follows 

- The Urdd can link between the success of culture and sport by working with our partners to 

amplify Wales’ voice overseas.  

- We raise the profile of Wales by using our experience of promoting the Welsh language to 

collaborate with other countries. 

- Through the Peace & Goodwill message we highlight Wales’s established reputation as a Nation 

of Sanctuary, committed to human rights and the promotion of peace.  

- Our mission as an organisation is to empower young people to be proud of their language and 

heritage but open to the world and through promoting global citizenship, we will be ensuring that 

the young people of Wales live for these values.  

- We share our success with other countries and organisations in the world in the successful 

promotion of minority language. 

In addition, our international work supports and deliver against the following policies and strategies.  

- The Wellbeing of Future Generations Act (Wales) 

- Curriculum for Wales 2022  

- Cymraeg2050:  

- Rights of Children and Young Person (Wales) Measure 2011  

Pack Page 20



2 / 4 
Ionawr 20222 

 

Urdd’s International work  

Working in partnership with other organisation that work internationally such as the Football 

Association of Wales, Welsh Rugby Union, Wales Arts International, The British Council we are able to 

create meaningful and successful projects to benefit young people. 

Our international work is incorporated into each Urdd department through cultural exchange 

programmes with the Eisteddfod and the arts to international elements within our sports 

competitions and a partnership with Team Wales of the Commonwealth Games.  

Core to our international work is the Peace and Goodwill Message form the young people of Wales to 

the young people of the world.  

As we commence on our centenary year, a number of international projects which we successfully 

modified into digital projects due to covid, will now be delivered in person, with exchanges planned 

with TG Lurgan in Ireland and University of Birmingham, Alabama, USA. 

The key highlights of our current international work is provided in Annex A 

Our priorities for the next 3 years 

Access the Welsh Government International Learning Exchange programme (ILEP) to increase the 

international opportunities for more young people from disadvantaged backgrounds. We wish to 

commend Welsh Government for establishing the £65million programme, following the exclusion of 

Wales from the Erasmus+ programme because of Brexit. We see the ILEP as springboard for more 

young people, from diverse backgrounds to benefit from international experiences and exchanges. 

Spending time on international programmes abroad broadens horizons, expands key skills, and brings 

benefits to communities and organisations here in Wales.  

Develop a community of international good practice in language promotion. Increase the Urdd’s 

international partnerships, and share our learning and success with the promotion of Welsh with other 

countries and organisations who are developing strategies and practice in promoting the use of a 

minority language 

Continue to share and develop the Peace and Goodwill Message from the young people of Wales to 
the world. The message unites children and young people to reduce prejudice and ignorance 
emphasizing what is common to all the young people of the world. As a core element of our 
international work, its educational value is far reaching, inspiring humanitarian action and an enabler, 
amplifying the voice of future generations to share their concerns to those in authority. 
 
Continue to develop partnerships in Wales and worldwide to provide new and varied international 

opportunities for young people. 

Priorities for the Committee’s work on international relations during the Sixth Senedd;  

We request that the committee consider the following points, which are evident in our priorities 

- Maximise the potential of the International Learning Programmes for more young people from 

disadvantaged backgrounds to gain the benefit of international experiences. 

- Embed Welsh language and culture in all international work to empower young people to be 

proud of their language and heritage but open to the world, and promote Wales to the world 

- Harness the power of young people as international ambassadors and active on international 

humanitarian projects which demonstrated the importance of Wales as a Country of Sanctuary  

Pack Page 21



3 / 4 
Ionawr 20222 

 

Annex A – The key highlights of our current international work 

The Peace & Goodwill Message of the Urdd to the world.  

One of the main international projects of the Urdd is the annual message of peace and goodwill. 

Through the Urdd, the young people of Wales have sent a Message the world. First shared in 1922, 

the message is unique and a worldwide first. It’s the only message of its kind that has been sent by 

young people to the world continuously every year without fail for a century. 

It’s built bridges, crossed boundaries, and empowered generations to be consistent, confident, and 

determined ambassadors of the aspirations of humankind.  

The 2021 Message was the most successful to date. It reached over 84 million people throughout the 

world, translated into 65 languages, and reached 59 countries. Notable and distinguished individuals 

and organisations across the world shared the message to include Hilary Clinton, UN Women, HRH 

Prince Charles, Michael Sheen and Geraint Thomas alongside hundreds of thousands of individuals, 

organisations, and supporters in every continent. 

The financial support from WG has allowed us to expand on the reach of the message in recent years 

and would wish for this to continue as we explore future themes and opportunities for young people. 

Neges Heddwch ac Ewyllys Da yr Urdd 2021 // Urdd Peace and Goodwill Message 2021 - YouTube 

 

The Urdd & TG Lurgan – Ireland  

In March 2020, the Urdd formed a partnership with Irish Youth Organisation TG Lurgan. TG Lurgan’s 
mission is to promote Irish language learning through contemporary songs with its YouTube channel 
attracting millions of viewers and leaders in promoting a minority language on social media. 
 
The aim of the partnership is bringing young people from Wales and Ireland together to work on 
exciting and dynamic bilingual collaborations with a global appeal and to learn and share good practise 
on the success of promoting minority languages amongst young people. 
 
Due to covid and travel restrictions visits to Ireland and back to Wales have not been possible however 

both organisations have successfully worked digitally on very successful remote collaborations. Both 

video collaborations have been a tremendous success in terms of reach across over 600,000 social 

media accounts, content watched in 13 different countries and wide media response to include The 

Independent, The Sun and Joe.ie. 

The partnership continues to grow with planned exchange programmes to Connemara and return to 

Wales in 2022. 

We are keen to explore and grow this partnership (which received funding from Welsh Government 
in its launch year) to allow us to continue to work together on the successful promotion of minority 
languages amongst young people. 
 
 
Urdd Gobaith Cymru x TG Lurgan – Blinding Lights yn Gymraeg/as Gaeilge - YouTube 

 
 
 

Pack Page 22

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=-08yHmYpRIo
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=nBLeKfpI5zk


4 / 4 
Ionawr 20222 

 

The Urdd & University of Birmingham Alabama  

Welsh ties with the African American community in Birmingham, Alabama were formed in the 

immediate aftermath of the vicious bombing of the 16th Street Baptist Church in 1963 by the Klu Klux 

Klan the people of Wales donated a stained-glass window to the church in solidarity.  

More than half a century later the Urdd reached in the name of the Urdd Peace Message, to create a 
partnership between Alabama and our young people.  

Côr yr Urdd (the Urdd Choir) is a newly formed choir of Urdd members who will travel to Birmingham, 

Alabama in Easter 2022. The choir will give young people (18 to 25 years old) from Wales a special 

opportunity to perform in Alabama alongside UAB’s Gospel Choir with the aim of learning more about 

the gospel tradition, civil rights movement and to share Welsh culture. 

Following the Urdd Choir’s visit to Alabama, the UAB Gospel Choir will then travel to Wales in June 

2022 staying at the Urdd’s three residential centres, travelling the country, performing in various 

venues. Their visit will finish at the Urdd Eisteddfod in Denbighshire. 

 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Zz3q35e7h1E 

 

Pack Page 23

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Zz3q35e7h1E


Dawn Bowden AS/MS 
Dirprwy Weinidog y Celfyddydau a Chwaraeon, a’r Prif Chwip 
Deputy Minister for Arts and Sport, and Chief Whip 
 
 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Dawn.Bowden@llyw.cymru          
  Correspondence.Dawn.Bowden@gov.wales 

 
Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  
 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

Ein cyf/Our ref DB/649/22 
 
Delyth Jewell MS 
Chair 
Culture, Communication, Welsh Language, Sport and International  
Relations Committee 
 

 
 

18 January 2022  
 

 
Dear Delyth, 
 
Response to the Culture, Communications, Welsh Language, Sport, and International 
Relations Committee’s Response to Small Screen: Big Debate report 
 
I am writing in relation to the Communications, Welsh Language, Sport and International 
Relations Committee Report - Response to Small Screen: Big Debate. 
 
There is no doubt as to the continued relevance of public service broadcasting in Wales. 
Our public service broadcasters play a crucial role informing, entertaining, educating and 
creating a common cultural citizenship, a role of particular importance during the COVID-19 
pandemic. They are vital contributors to the growth of our economy and creative industries, 
as well as to devolution and sustaining and growing the Welsh language. They are key to 
delivering our ambitions for a diverse and inclusive industry, producing accessible and 
relevant content.  As such, it is essential that urgent action is taken to develop a fit for 
purpose framework to ensure broadcasters are able to continue to deliver for the people of 
Wales. 
 
Our own conversations with stakeholders reflect the views of the participants to your one-
day enquiry into the challenges facing public service broadcasters. That urgent action is 
needed to take forward the recommendations set out in Small Screen: Big Debate, and that 
there must be full and fair Welsh representation in this work. Any delay to the introduction of 
a new model will have a fundamental impact on the ability of public service broadcasters to 
operate effectively in an increasingly global, online environment. Wales must have a strong 
voice in the development of any proposals if we are to protect, maintain and further Welsh 
interests. My officials are engaging with the UK Government Department for Digital, Culture, 
Media and Sport (DCMS) on the steps being taken by the UK Government in response to 
Small Screen: Big Debate. They are also in discussions with both Ofcom and DCSM on a 
range of activities of relevance to this work, such as the consultation on audience protection 
on video-on-demand services and the proposed Online Safety Bill.  
 

Pack Page 24

Agenda Item 5.1

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Dawn.Bowden@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Dawn.Bowden@gov.wales


Any future regulatory framework must address the impact of global streaming services, and 
we agree the UK Government should respond positively to the Ofcom recommendations 
related to streaming platforms. The need to broaden and protect prominence and 
discoverability of public service broadcasting content on these platforms has been 
consistently raised with us by stakeholders, and is a particular area where the need for swift 
action has been stressed. As noted in Ofcom’s Media Nations 2021 report ‘more than half of 
households in Wales (59%) have a subscription to video-on-demand services from 
companies such as Netflix, Amazon, Disney+ and Now TV’.  This has increased from a 
figure of 54% of households with a subscription to one or more of the paid-for online 
services at the beginning of 2020, as set out in its 2020 report. As this trend continues, a 
framework is needed to ensure viewers can easily find and access Welsh content in an 
increasingly global marketplace. This includes the need for mechanisms to ensure this 
content is carried on digital platforms on fair terms. This framework should be informed by 
learning from other countries and we agree examples of approaches elsewhere should be 
considered during the development of solutions, in particular those with similar 
circumstances to Wales.  
 
The Welsh Government also agrees it is timely for Ofcom’s operations in Wales to be 
reviewed at this critical time for the broadcasting sector. As we look to ensure the policy and 
legislative framework evolves in line with changes to the broadcasting landscape, we also 
need to ensure Ofcom in Wales is adequately resourced to effectively carry out its duties. 
The Welsh Government works closely with Ofcom to ensure provision meets the needs of 
Welsh citizens and we are grateful for the positive relationship with officers in Wales and the 
Ofcom Board member for Wales. However, as the pace of change in the sector increases 
and results in the need for additional capacity and skills to reflect new and emerging 
opportunities, challenges and work-streams, the UK Government must ensure additional 
resources are provided to resource this.  
 
Our response to the previous Senedd Culture, Welsh Language and Communications 
Committee’s report on broadcastings agreed that the nations should have a role in 
important funding decisions, in the context of broadcasting’s independence from 
government. Decisions taken at a UK level on funding settlements have a fundamental 
impact on delivery of services in the nations, and we would welcome a formal mechanism 
that ensures these are made in full and effective consultation with key stakeholders from 
different parts of the UK. Public service broadcasters must be adequately resourced in order 
to deliver relevant, diverse content that serves Welsh audiences.  
 
I note the comments of participants to the Committee’s one-day review, which highlight the 
importance of public service broadcaster commissioning to the growth of the creative 
industries in Wales. These statements echo the findings of reports published in 2021, 
including the assessment of the economic impact of S4C in Wales and the UK, and the 
assessment of the BBC’s contribution to the UK economy. There is no doubt that public 
service broadcasters have helped to grow the independent production sector in Wales, with 
their spend resulting in the sustainability of a number of highly successful independent 
companies now creating both scripted and unscripted content for many channels and 
networks. This investment must continue if we are to maintain and grow our reputation as a 
creative hub and win our fair share of the growth projected for the sector at a UK level over 
the next few years. To achieve this, it is vital that the public service broadcasters’ objectives 
reflect their value to the economic and cultural landscape of Wales, and maximise their 
potential to support the growth of the creative industries in Wales.  
 
In recognition of the importance of our public service broadcasters to Wales, in 2021 
Creative Wales entered into Memorandums of Understanding (MOUs) with the BBC and 
S4C to strengthen our relationship and provide clarity on areas of joint priority and focus. 
This work will continue in 2022 to explore MOUs with other public service broadcasters. Our 

Pack Page 25



MOUs set out our shared vision of a sustainable, innovative, resilient sector in Wales which 
is bilingual, representative, fair and inclusive.  This includes delivery of content which tells 
the stories, reflects the lives and landscape of the nation, as well as the language and 
culture, in a way that is compelling for both indigenous and global audiences. In addition, 
they seek to maximise opportunities to support the growth of the Welsh language. 
 
As your report highlights, if new broadcasting structures are to truly meet the needs of 
Wales, discussions and decisions on their development must take into consideration our 
distinct situation. It must reflect our unique culture, our language, our legislative context and 
our reliance on public services broadcasters for the provision of public interest information 
and news. Given the role the Public Service Broadcasting Advisory Panel will play in the 
development of solutions to the challenges being faced by public service broadcasters, it is 
essential that Wales is represented on that group. I have asked my officials to raise this 
matter as part of their discussions with DCMS. 
 
As you are aware, broadcasting is one of the areas which falls under the Co-operation 
Agreement the Welsh Government has entered into with Plaid Cymru and our work in this 
area will be taken forward in the context of those commitments. We will be progressing 
discussions with the Designated Members and will keep the Senedd updated as 
appropriate. 
 
I thank the Committee for its work on this important matter and continued commitment to 
ensuring a fit for purpose broadcasting framework for Wales. 
 
Yours sincerely,  
 

 
 
Dawn Bowden AS/MS 
Dirprwy Weinidog y Celfyddydau a Chwaraeon, a’r Prif Chwip 
Deputy Minister for Arts and Sport, and Chief Whip 
 

 
 

Pack Page 26



Dawn Bowden AS/MS 
Dirprwy Weinidog y Celfyddydau a Chwaraeon, a’r Prif Chwip 

Deputy Minister for Arts and Sport, and Chief Whip 

 
  

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Dawn.Bowden@llyw.cymru          
  Correspondence.Dawn.Bowden@gov.wales 

 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 

gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  

 

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

Ein cyf/Our ref DB/651/22 

 

Delyth Jewell AS/MS  
Chair 
Culture, Communication, Welsh Language,  
Sport and International Relations Committee  
 

 

 

20 January 2022  

 

 

Dear Delyth, 

In my letter of 21 December 2021 I committed to sharing copies of the Term of Government 

Remit Letters to Welsh Government Sponsored Bodies in my portfolio once they had been 

issued.  

Please find enclosed copies of these letters, sent to the National Library of Wales, Arts 

Council Wales, Amgueddfa Cymru - National Museum Wales, the Royal Commission on 

Ancient and Historic Monuments of Wales, and Sport Wales, on 22 December, 2021. 

Yours sincerely,  

 

Dawn Bowden AS/MS 

Dirprwy Weinidog y Celfyddydau a Chwaraeon, a’r Prif Chwip 

Deputy Minister for Arts and Sport, and Chief Whip 

Pack Page 27

Agenda Item 5.2

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Dawn.Bowden@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Dawn.Bowden@gov.wales


Dawn Bowden AS/MS 
Dirprwy Weinidog y Celfyddydau a Chwaraeon, a’r Prif Chwip 

Deputy Minister for Arts and Sport, and Chief Whip 

 
 
 
 
Mr Roger Lewis 
President - Amgueddfa Cymru – National Museum Wales 
Cathays Park 
Cardiff 
CF10 3NP 

 

22 December 2021 

 

Dear Roger, 

Term of Government Remit Letter for Amgueddfa Cymru - National Museum 
Wales 

I would like to convey my thanks to Amgueddfa Cymru - National Museum Wales for 
the important work it has undertaken in responding to the Covid-19 pandemic. The 
sponsored bodies in my portfolio have shown leadership, adaptability and resilience 
during challenging circumstances. We must now move to ensure the Welsh 
Government’s investment supports the recovery of our sectors, our people and of 
Wales as a whole. There is an opportunity for us to seek the positive learning from 
Covid-19, and to maintain the momentum achieved on the enhanced access to culture 
via digitisation and digital events.  

Our Programme for Government outlines the Government’s priorities and its 
commitments to the people of Wales. In return for the grant in aid funding the Welsh 
Government provides, I ask Amgueddfa Cymru – National Museum Wales to consider 
how it can deliver its objectives in a way that is consistent with the values of the Welsh 
Government.  

Our shared goals should be: 

 Decarbonisation;  
 Addressing all inequality and achieving an anti-racist Wales;  
 Improving access and participation for all;  
 Promoting health and well-being; 
 Creating opportunities for young people; and  
 Projecting a powerful and positive image of Wales to the world. 

At Annex A, I have outlined the areas where I feel Amgueddfa Cymru – National 
Museum Wales can contribute to delivering the Programme for Government. The 
current strategic context for the work of the Welsh Government’s sponsored bodies is 
captured at Annex B.  

 

 

Pack Page 28



 

2 
 

 

Partnership working is important in achieving our aims of widening access, 
participation and engagement. I am convinced that the sponsored bodies within my 
portfolio could achieve so much more by working collaboratively, and I encourage you 
to work together as cultural leaders to maximise your impact. 

I would like to remind you of your legal duty under the Children and Families (Wales) 
Measure 2010. Under Part 1, the Measure requires you to publish child poverty 
objectives as part of a strategy for contributing to the eradication of child poverty in 
Wales. I would like you to think about actions which support the well-being of children 
and young people living in poverty, and encourage you to consider opportunities to 
discharge your legal obligations under the duty within your existing organisational 
processes. 

Amgueddfa Cymru – National Museum Wales will be a key delivery partner for a 
number of Programme for Government commitments, including the new Museum of 
North Wales, the Football Museum for Wales, and the development and 
establishment of the National Contemporary Art Gallery. I look forward to receiving 
your valuable support and expertise in taking these commitments forward. 

You should continue to fulfil Amgueddfa Cymru’s statutory responsibilities as set out 
in its Royal Charter, and to meet professional standards in a way that demonstrates 
the organisation is caring for our national collection effectively. It is important that you 
maintain Museum Accreditation, and continue to work towards achieving Archive 
Service Accreditation.  I expect Amgueddfa Cymru to work to professional standards 
to maintain and preserve the digital content held within the collections via a robust 
digital preservation infrastructure, so that the information remains reliable, 
authoritative and authentic over time.   

Maintaining the financial stability of Amgueddfa Cymru will continue to be a 
fundamental expectation. 

I know that Amgueddfa Cymru has offered valuable support and leadership to the local 
museum sector in Wales, and I would now like to see Amgueddfa Cymru adopt a 
collaborative approach to working with local museums. Working with the local sector, 
with Welsh Government sponsored bodies, and with other key partners is important in 
achieving our aim of widening access, participation and engagement.  

In line with the Framework Document, which underpins the relationship between 
Amgueddfa Cymru - National Museum Wales and the Welsh Government, you should 
now move to review your business plans, demonstrating how you will deliver against 
the areas outlined in this letter and its appendices. 

Your charitable and Royal Charter status and the need for Amgueddfa Cymru to act 
independently on a day-to-day basis is clear, and it is my intention that our relationship 
will continue to be based on mutual trust and respect, and on open and honest 
communication. 

 

 

 

Pack Page 29



 

3 
 

Amgueddfa Cymru should not just reflect contemporary Wales but be at the heart of 
it. There is much to do, but I am convinced that my portfolio can make a positive and 
lasting difference to people’s lives. I look forward to working with you to achieve this.  

 
Yours sincerely, 
 
 

 
 
 
Dawn Bowden AS/MS 
Deputy Minister for Arts and Sport, and Chief Whip 
 
cc David Anderson, Director General, Amgueddfa Cymru – National Museum Wales 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Pack Page 30



 

4 
 

ANNEX A: Key Deliverables 

 
For each of these key deliverables my officials will work with you to determine, 
and agree appropriate performance indicators in advance of the financial year 
2022-23. These performance indicators should be reported quarterly, as part of 
the regular monitoring arrangements, and throughout the duration of this term 
of Government. 
 
 
1. Provide effective, high quality and sustainable healthcare 

Our Programme for Government emphasises improving mental health provision and 
has a focus on prevention, supporting people to live healthy lives, tackling stigma in 
mental health, and introducing an all-Wales framework to roll out social prescribing as 
a means of tackling isolation. 
 

I would like Amgueddfa Cymru - National Museum Wales to: 

 Implement ways of supporting good mental health across the organisation, 
ensuring that there is no stigma attached to mental health issues 

 Ensure that the workforce is appropriately trained to support those suffering 
from mental health issues 

 Engage with the development of the proposed all-Wales framework for social 
prescribing, and, specifically, work to identify areas where the Museum could 
support social prescribing to tackle isolation and support well-being.  

 

2. Protect, re-build and develop our services for vulnerable people 

The focus of the Programme for Government in this area relates to integrated care 
services, supporting vulnerable citizens, including children, young people and families 
who face the greatest challenges. I believe our sponsored bodies should help the 
people of Wales to live meaningful lives, and you should consider how you can 
improve your support to people in vulnerable and / or disadvantaged groups. 

I would like Amgueddfa Cymru - National Museum Wales to: 

 Ensure the broadest range of vulnerable groups can engage with culture and 
are not excluded from participation.  This should include identifying and 
delivering specific opportunities that enable people in vulnerable or 
disadvantaged groups and those in under-represented communities to benefit 
from culture; 

 Be pro-active about ensuring that the organisation is supporting the Welsh 
Government’s commitment to being an age-friendly nation; 

 Consider the opportunities you currently offer to looked after children and care 
leavers and how these could be improved; 

 Review your current support for the D / deaf community and for those living with 
other disabilities, including hidden disabilities, and work towards a continued 
enhancement of these services. 

 

Pack Page 31



 

5 
 

3. Build an economy based on the principles of fair work, sustainability and 
the industries and services of the future 

Aligning with strengthening our Economic Contract, our Programme for Government 
seeks to ensure a renewed focus on young people via the Young Person’s Guarantee. 
Social partnership, sustainable jobs, disabled people’s employment champions, and 
supporting local supply chains are key components of this commitment. 

I would like Amgueddfa Cymru - National Museum Wales to: 

 Provide a new or improved range of options to support the young people of 
Wales into work – these could include apprenticeships, training, work 
experience and mentoring programmes and should be aligned with the Young 
Person’s Guarantee; 

 Use the new network of Disabled People’s Employment Champions to help 
close the gap between disabled people and the rest of the working population; 

 Work towards a minimum 30% target for working from home, based on a 
blended approach which is fair and equitable; 

 Develop and strengthen your existing procurement processes to help support 
local supply chains; 

 Seek to increase its financial sustainability, supported by appropriate income 
generation activity; 

 Build and strengthen local, regional, national and international partnerships for 
the benefit of Amgueddfa Cymru, the Welsh economy and the people of Wales. 
 
 

4. Build a stronger, greener economy as we make maximum progress towards 
decarbonisation 

Our Programme for Government has an emphasis on sustainable growth, and on new 
digital, economic and transport infrastructures that can help re-energise our 
communities.  

I would like Amgueddfa Cymru - National Museum Wales to: 

 Support the Welsh Government’s commitment to achieving a zero-carbon 
economy by working to become carbon neutral by 2030; 

 Support the Welsh Government’s target of 45% of journeys being undertaken 
by sustainable modes by 2040; 

 Review your current digital activity following the recent acceleration of digital 
engagement during Covid-19. You should identify and address areas of 
weakness, look for examples of best practice within your own organisation and 
by others, and seek to build on the successes of 2020-21. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Pack Page 32



 

6 
 

5. Embed our response to the climate and nature emergency in everything we 
do 

The Welsh Government is focused on a green transformation as part of our ambition 
to address the climate emergency. 

I would like Amgueddfa Cymru - National Museum Wales to: 

 Focus on waste reduction across the whole of the organisation and work to 
achieve zero waste targets and towards abolishing the use of more commonly 
littered, single-use plastics; 

 Procure low carbon products; 
 Establish green champions in the work place; 
 Ensure biodiversity impact is given due consideration as part of decision-

making; 
 Work with bodies such as WRAP Cymru and the Carbon Trust to inform policy 

decisions. 
 
 

6. Continue our long-term programme of education reform, and ensure 
educational inequalities narrow and standards rise 

The Welsh Government will work with children and young people, their families and 
the education workforce to ensure the best outcomes for learners, particularly those 
who are most vulnerable. 

I would like Amgueddfa Cymru - National Museum Wales to: 

 Consider how the reform of the school day and school year may impact on its 
education services; 

 Build on your successful involvement with the Summer of Fun in 2021 by 
considering how you could support a school holiday enrichment programme; 

 Support the new curriculum in Wales; 
 Develop future focused skills and employability programmes, encouraging 

young people into the sector;  
 Establish apprenticeship and volunteering opportunities to support and develop 

the next generation workforce; 
 Maintain your IRO status and work to attract research funding in partnership 

with higher education institutions. 
 
 

7. Celebrate diversity and move to eliminate inequality in all of its forms 

We must work together to achieve positive change, recognising our common humanity 
whilst celebrating diversity and difference. 

I would like Amgueddfa Cymru - National Museum Wales to: 

 Consider how the governance of the Museum supports the principles of 
'Reflecting Wales in Running Wales’ and move to urgently address any areas 
which require action – this must include improving diversity in the workforce and 
at Board level; 

Pack Page 33



 

7 
 

 Implement the goals of the Race Equality Action Plan, considering how 
Amgueddfa Cymru will directly contribute to delivering an anti-racist Wales; 

 Implement the goals of the LGBTQ+ Action Plan; 
 In partnership with the Arts Council of Wales, develop and deliver an Action 

Plan taking forward appropriate recommendations made in the three widening 
engagement reports published in August 2021. This work should be done 
collaboratively with communities. 

 Address any remaining pay gaps based on gender, sexual orientation, ethnicity, 
disability, and other forms of discrimination which may exist in your 
organisations, and urgently address any ongoing pay disparities; 

 Ensure the histories and cultures of our Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic 
communities are properly represented by Amgueddfa Cymru - National 
Museum Wales and its delivery partners; 

 Continue to strengthen partnerships with voluntary organisations across the 
range of your responsibilities; 

 Work with the new network of Disabled People’s Employment Champions to 
help close the gap between disabled people and the rest of the working 
population; 

 Develop equality and diversity champions encompassing all protected 
characteristics; 

 Improve the Museum’s engagement with under-represented communities. 

 

8. Push forward towards a million Welsh speakers, and enable our tourism, 
sports and arts industries to thrive 

The Welsh Government’s arts, culture and sports sponsored bodies are key partners 
in widening access to our heritage, harnessing creativity, and developing the sporting 
ability of the people of Wales. The Programme for Government commits to ensuring 
that you have the support you need to maintain your proper place on the world stage, 
and your role in projecting Wales to the world is just as important. You are also a key 
partner in supporting our commitment to achieving a million Welsh speakers by 2050. 

I would like Amgueddfa Cymru - National Museum Wales to: 

 In partnership with the Arts Council of Wales, take forward the development 
and establishment of the National Contemporary Art Gallery; 

 Collaborate with Wrexham Museum to support the development of the Football 
Museum for Wales; 

 Develop the Museum of North Wales at the site of the National Slate Museum 
in Llanberis, with full consultation in relation to the impact of the development 
on local museums across north Wales; 

 Develop Wales’ cultural tourism offer at the Museum’s sites, ensuring impactful 
visitor experiences in attractive public spaces; 

 Ensure that the Museum is a family-friendly visitor destination; 
 Ensure that the Museum delivers a comprehensive and bilingual education 

programme; 
 Respond to the Cymraeg 2050 strategy by continuing to increase the number 

of Welsh speakers, the use of the Welsh language, and by creating favourable 
conditions in which the Welsh language can thrive; 

Pack Page 34



 

8 
 

 Work in partnership with the National Centre for Learning Welsh; 
 Develop a long-term plan for the care and maintenance of the Museum’s iconic 

buildings and collections, including a strategic plan for appropriate storage 
facilities for the Museum’s growing collections. 

 To support the development and implementation of a new culture strategy for 
Wales 

 

 

9. Make our cities, towns and villages even better places in which to live and 
work 

Our Programme for Government commits to supporting our partners in local 
government, and, in relation to my portfolio responsibilities, it highlights how the Welsh 
Government wants to ensure that communities can thrive as centres of social 
exchange, leisure, sport and culture. 

I would like Amgueddfa Cymru - National Museum Wales to: 

 Enhance awareness of, access to, and engagement with the national collection 
through a comprehensive loan scheme to galleries, museums and communities 
across Wales;  

 Work with the Culture and Sport division’s museum team and the Federation of 
Museums and Art Galleries of Wales to develop a strategy for working with the 
local museums sector, encompassing mutual sharing of good practice, skills 
development, access to the national collection and to Amgueddfa Cymru’s 
expertise, and joint working on collaborative and community partnerships; 

 Continue to develop the Museum’s volunteer programme, including digital 
volunteering.  

 

10. Lead Wales in a national civic conversation about our constitutional future, 
and give our country the strongest possible presence on the world stage 

The Programme for Government highlights the importance of Wales’ global 
relationships, of celebrating different cultures and embracing internationalism. 

Amgueddfa Cymru - National Museum Wales has an important role to play in 
projecting Wales to the world. 

I would like Amgueddfa Cymru - National Museum Wales to: 

 Develop international cultural and research partnerships that bring benefit to 
Wales, encourage engagement with diverse histories, and enhance the 
international profile of Wales; 

 Consider opportunities for learning exchange programmes; 
 Ensure the best use of digital technology, digitisation and digital events as a 

means of enabling world-wide engagement with Welsh culture; 
 Engage with the Welsh diaspora. 

  

Pack Page 35



 

9 
 

ANNEX B: The Strategic Context 

Other Strategic Priorities, Objectives and Commitments 
 
In addition to the deliverables in Annex A, the work of Amgueddfa Cymru – National 
Museum Wales could also play an important part in contributing to and delivering 
other Welsh Government policy priorities during this term of Government.  
 
The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 continues to be an important 
driver for our well-being priorities and our shared goals in Wales. The well-being 
objectives set out in the Programme for Government exist to support and enhance 
the delivery of these goals over this term of Government.  
 

A Greener Wales 

We are committed to addressing the climate and nature emergency. Welsh 
Government has set out its commitment to achieving net zero emissions by 2050 and 
has published its All Wales Net Zero plan: Working Together to Reach Net Zero (2021-
2025). Our ambition is that the public sector will be carbon neutral by 2030, leading 
the way in delivering a Net Zero Wales. To support this work we have published the 
Public Sector Net Zero Reporting Guide and the Public Sector Route-map will provide 
a clear framework for how the sector will achieve net zero by 2030. 
 
As well as reducing emissions we also need to build resilience to the impacts of climate 
change to ensure we can continue to deliver our key public services. The Climate 
Change Committee published its third Climate Change Risk Assessment for the UK, 
which highlights a range of risks and opportunities for the environment, communities 
and businesses resulting from a changing climate. The Welsh Public Sector must 
demonstrate it has understood and taken account of the risks and opportunities in 
delivering its services.  
 
In March 2021, the Welsh Government published ‘Beyond Recycling – a strategy to 
make the circular economy in Wales a reality’, which outlines our goals to become 
zero waste by 2050 and for making resource efficiency part of Welsh culture. Moving 
to a circular economy is essential to the delivery of key environmental actions.  
 

A Fairer Wales 

The Programme for Government shows how we intend to maximise fairness for all 
and eliminate inequality at every level of society. It looks at how we will address the 
systemic causes of inequality in all its forms.  

During this term of Government we will publish a new Race Equality Action Plan 
(REAP) for Wales, and an action plan for advancing LGBTQ+ equality in Wales. These 
action plans should be read alongside our Strategic Equality Plan, Gender Equality 
Plan and Framework for Action on Disability. They are designed to achieve sustained 
change in the short, medium and long term, and our sponsored bodies must 
demonstrate a clear and pro-active response to achieving the goals set out in these 
plans.   

Pack Page 36



 

10 
 

We have already undertaken an audit of the Welsh Government’s services for the 
D/deaf community and the Programme for Government also commits to taking action 
to support disabled people. There is still much to do to enable them to engage with 
culture and this must be a priority. 

We are committed to reaching out to and engaging with Wales’ vulnerable groups, 
ensuring Wales is an age-friendly nation, and that poverty, social disadvantage, ill 
health and disability should not be a barrier to participation. The Welsh Government’s 
sponsored bodies should keep their work with these groups under constant review 
and should be exemplars of good practice in widening access and tackling social 
exclusion.  

 

A Healthier Wales 

The Welsh Government believes that culture, the arts and sport offer a means of 
improving the health and wellbeing of a nation. Participation must therefore continue 
to be an area of focus. I would like to see the sponsored bodies in my portfolio 
engaging with new and diverse stakeholders, working with under-represented 
audiences and communities, and actively expressing the link between your work and 
the health and wellbeing of the people of Wales.   

 

Other strategies and existing legislation 

The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 continues to be an 
important driver for our wellbeing priorities and shared goals in Wales. The wellbeing 
objectives set out in the Programme for Government exist to support and enhance the 
delivery of these goals over this new term of government.  

Our Economic Action Plan is based on the principle of public investment with a social 
purpose. Central to the Plan is the Economic Contract that requires those receiving 
investment from the Welsh Government to demonstrate inclusive growth, fair work, 
promotion of health (with a special emphasis on mental health), skills and learning in 
the workplace, and progress in reducing carbon footprint.  

Our commitment to fair work and sustainability and the industries and services of the 
future includes delivering the young person’s guarantee and a promise of creating 
125,000 all age apprenticeships. I expect you to seek opportunities to contribute to the 
Young Person’s Guarantee and our goal of delivering 125,000 apprenticeships 
throughout the term of government. 

Our Programme for Government commits to strengthening this Economic Contract 
and we will continue to monitor your progress in delivering against the pillars of this 
plan. 

Our Cultural Contract aims to ensure that public funding for culture and creativity has 
social, cultural and economic purposes. At the heart of the Cultural Contract are four 
commitments including improving the diversity of organisations’ boards, workforce and 
programmes of work alongside increasing opportunities for individual artists and 
creative freelancers.  
 

Pack Page 37



 

11 
 

The Welsh Government’s International Strategy outlines three priority ambitions, our 
existing partnerships and our priority international relationships. Culture, Arts and 
Sport sponsored bodies should work closely with the Welsh Government’s 
International Relations Team during this term of government to both lead and 
contribute to campaigns, programmes and projects which help Wales stand out on the 
world stage. 

Working with the Welsh diaspora and with targeted international partners for mutual 
economic, cultural and social benefit should be reflected in your strategic and 
operational plans.  

Amgueddfa Cymru – National Museum Wales is an important partner in terms of 
Welsh tourism. Growing the cultural tourism offer continues to be a priority and 
‘Welcome to Wales – Priorities for the visitor economy 2020-2025’ should be reflected 
in your business planning, and I urge you to create and maintain strong links with the 
Welsh Government’s tourism development team in furthering this area of work.  

 

The Welsh language 

The Cymraeg 2050 strategy continues to be an area of focus in our efforts to achieve 
the wellbeing goal of a thriving Welsh language, and of reaching a million Welsh 
speakers by 2050. I expect the Welsh language to be thoroughly embedded in all that 
you do, celebrating bilingualism and enabling the people of Wales to use the language 
as part of their everyday lives. The results of the 2021 Census will be known during 
this term of Government, and we will update the Cymraeg 2050 work programme for 
the strategy, but the three main themes will remain – increasing the number of Welsh 
speakers, increasing the use of the Welsh language, and creating favourable 
conditions in which the Welsh language can thrive.  

 

Cultural strategy  

During this term of Government we will create and publish a new cultural strategy for 
Wales which will define our cultural priorities for the years ahead. As key partners, I 
would like to see the sponsored bodies in my portfolio participating in the development 
of the new strategy and, once published, the strategy should underpin much of your 
long-term planning and operational activity.  

A new Wales Infrastructure Investment Strategy will also be developed during this term 
of Government, linking decisions on capital investment with the delivery of key 
strategic outcomes. It is an expectation that capital grant recipients will provide 
quantitative evidence demonstrating how the investment is helping to deliver those 
outcomes.  

 

Digital Strategy for Wales  

The Digital Strategy seeks to achieve a real digital transformation of public services 
and provides an opportunity to support the ways of working described in the Well-
being of Future Generations (Wales) Act.  I would like you to ensure that as far as 
possible all your services are available online, and that people will choose to use these 

Pack Page 38



 

12 
 

services because they are well designed and easy to use.  Please identify 
opportunities to work with partners in the cultural heritage sector on digital initiatives 
to promote use of your collections and resources and to promote learning, education 
and enjoyment.   

 

Pack Page 39



Dawn Bowden AS/MS 
Dirprwy Weinidog y Celfyddydau a Chwaraeon, a’r Prif Chwip 

Deputy Minister for Arts and Sport, and Chief Whip 

 
 
Mr Phil George 
Chair - Arts Council of Wales 
Bute Place 
Cardiff  
CF10 5AL 

22 December 2021 
 

Dear Phil, 

Term of Government Remit Letter for Arts Council of Wales 

I would like to convey my thanks to the Arts Council of Wales for the important work it 
has undertaken in responding to the Covid-19 pandemic. The sponsored bodies in my 
portfolio have shown leadership, adaptability and resilience during challenging 
circumstances. We must now move to ensure the Welsh Government’s investment 
supports the recovery of our sectors, our people and of Wales as a whole. Despite the 
very severe challenges it has presented, there is an opportunity for us to seek the 
positive learning from Covid-19, and to maintain the momentum achieved on the 
enhanced access to arts via digitisation, new digital technologies and digital events.  

As a Royal Charter body and a charitable organisation, I recognise that the Arts 
Council must continue to operate in accordance with a range of legally defined 
responsibilities.  These sit alongside your responsibilities as a Welsh Government 
Sponsored Body.  

Our Programme for Government outlines the Welsh Government’s priorities and its 
commitments to the people of Wales. In return for the grant in aid funding the Welsh 
Government provides, I ask the Arts Council of Wales to consider how it can deliver 
its objectives in a way that is consistent with the values of the Welsh Government.  

Our shared goals should be: 

 Decarbonisation;  
 Addressing all inequality and achieving an anti-racist Wales;  
 Improving access and participation for all;  
 Promoting health and well-being; 
 Creating opportunities for young people; and 
 Projecting a powerful and positive image of Wales to the world. 

At Annex A, I have outlined the areas where I feel the Arts Council of Wales can 
contribute to delivering the Programme for Government. The current strategic context 
for the work of the Welsh Government’s sponsored bodies is captured at Annex B.  

Partnership working is important in achieving our aim of widening access, participation 
and engagement. I am convinced that the sponsored bodies within my portfolio could 
achieve so much more by working collaboratively, and I encourage you to work 
together as cultural leaders to maximise your impact.  

 

Pack Page 40



 

2 
 

I would like to remind you of your legal duty under the Children and Families (Wales) 
Measure 2010. Under Part 1, the Measure requires you to publish child poverty 
objectives as part of a strategy for contributing to the eradication of child poverty in 
Wales. I would like you to think about actions which support the well-being of children 
and young people living in poverty, and encourage you to consider opportunities to 
discharge your legal obligations under the duty within your existing organisational 
processes. 

The Arts Council of Wales will be a key delivery partner for a number of Programme 
for Government commitments; investing in theatres, Theatr Clwyd and the 
development and establishment of the National Contemporary Art Gallery. I look 
forward to receiving your valuable support and expertise in taking these 
commitments forward. 

The Arts Council of Wales Investment Review is a key piece of work which is 
scheduled to take place during this term of Government. I recognise that the Review 
will undoubtedly be challenging, not least because many organisations in the current 
portfolio will have been adversely affected by the Covid-19 pandemic. Building a 
vibrant and financially viable portfolio should be a key objective. I would ask you to 
ensure that the new portfolio fully reflects the diversity of contemporary Wales and that 
the Investment Review process ensures that fairness, equality and diversity are at its 
heart. 

In line with the Framework Document which underpins the relationship between the 
Arts Council of Wales and the Welsh Government, you should now move to review 
your business plans, demonstrating how you will deliver against the areas outlined in 
this letter and its appendices. 

The need for Arts Council of Wales to act independently on a day-to-day basis is clear, 
and it is my intention that our relationship will continue to be based on mutual trust and 
respect, and on open and honest communication.  

There is much to do, but I am convinced that my portfolio can make a positive and 
lasting difference to people’s lives. I look forward to working with you to achieve this.  

Yours sincerely, 

 
 
 
Dawn Bowden AS/MS 
Deputy Minister for Arts and Sport, and Chief Whip 
 
cc Rebecca Nelson, Acting Accounting Officer, Arts Council of Wales  

Pack Page 41



 

3 
 

ANNEX A: Key Deliverables 

For each of these key deliverables my officials will work with you to determine, 
and agree appropriate performance indicators in advance of the financial year 
2022-23. These performance indicators should be reported quarterly, as part of 
the regular monitoring arrangements, and throughout the duration of this term 
of Government. 
 

1. Provide effective, high quality and sustainable healthcare 

Our Programme for Government emphasises improving mental health provision and 
has a focus on prevention, supporting people to live healthy lives, tackling stigma in 
mental health, and introducing an all-Wales framework to roll out social prescribing as 
a means of tackling isolation. 

I would like Arts Council of Wales to: 

 Implement ways of supporting good mental health across the organisation, 
ensuring that there is no stigma attached to mental health issues; 

 Ensure that the workforce is appropriately trained to support those suffering 
from mental health issues; 

 Continue to engage with the development of the proposed all-Wales framework 
for social prescribing, and, specifically, work to identify areas where the Council 
could support social prescribing to tackle isolation and support well-being;  

 Further develop your relationships with the NHS Confederation Wales and 
Local Health Boards within Wales to promote opportunities for the arts to 
contribute to health and well-being.   

 

2. Protect, re-build and develop our services for vulnerable people 

The focus of the Programme for Government in this area relates to integrated care 
services, and supporting vulnerable citizens, including children, young people and 
families who face the greatest challenges. I believe our sponsored bodies should help 
the people of Wales to live meaningful lives, and must consider how they can improve 
their support to those people in vulnerable and / or disadvantaged groups. 

I would like Arts Council of Wales to: 

 Ensure the broadest range of vulnerable groups can engage with the arts in 
Wales and are not excluded from participation. This should include identifying 
and delivering specific opportunities that enable people in vulnerable or 
disadvantaged groups and those in under-represented communities to benefit 
from the arts; 

 Be pro-active about ensuring that the organisation is supporting the Welsh 
Government’s commitment to being an age-friendly nation; 

 Consider the opportunities you currently offer to looked after children and care 
leavers and how these could be improved;  

 Review your current support for D/deaf communities and for those living with 
other disabilities, including hidden disabilities, and work towards a continued 
enhancement of these services. 
 

Pack Page 42



 

4 
 

3. Build an economy based on the principles of fair work, sustainability and 
the industries and services of the future 

Aligning with strengthening our Economic Contract, our Programme for Government 
seeks to ensure a renewed focus on young people via the Young Person’s Guarantee. 
Social partnership, sustainable jobs, disabled people’s employment champions, and 
supporting local supply chains are key components of this commitment. 

I would like Arts Council of Wales to: 

 Build on the Economic Contract to develop the Cultural Contract, enabling fair 
work, inclusion and sustainability; 

 Provide a new or improved range of options to support the young people of 
Wales into work – these could include apprenticeships, training, work 
experience and mentoring programmes and should be aligned with the Young 
Person’s Guarantee; 

 Use the new network of Disabled People’s Employment Champions to help 
close the gap between disabled people and the rest of the working population; 

 Work towards a minimum 30% target for working from home, based on a 
blended approach which is fair and equitable; 

 Develop and strengthen your existing procurement processes to help support 
local supply chains; 

 Build and strengthen local, regional, national and international partnerships for 
the benefit of Arts Council of Wales, the Welsh economy and the people of 
Wales. 

  

4. Build a stronger, greener economy as we make maximum progress towards 
decarbonisation 

Our Programme for Government has an emphasis on sustainable growth, and on new 
digital, economic and transport infrastructures that can help re-energise our 
communities.  

I would like Arts Council of Wales to: 

 Support the Welsh Government’s commitment to achieving a zero-carbon 
economy by working to become carbon neutral by 2030; 

 Support the Welsh Government’s target of 45% of journeys being undertaken 
by sustainable modes by 2040; 

 Review your current digital activity following the recent acceleration of digital 
activity during Covid-19. You should identify and address areas of weakness, 
look for examples of best practice within your organisation and by other 
organisations, and seek to build on the successes of 2020-21. 

 

 

 

 

Pack Page 43



 

5 
 

5. Embed our response to the climate and nature emergency in everything we 
do 

The Welsh Government is focused on a green transformation as part of our ambition 
to address the climate emergency. 

I would like Arts Council of Wales to: 

 Focus on waste reduction across the whole of the organisation and work to 
achieve zero waste targets and towards abolishing the use of more commonly 
littered, single-use plastics; 

 Work with organisations you fund to promote the use of separate recycling 
containers for food waste, paper and card, metal and plastics, glass, textiles 
and small waste electronic and electrical equipment within venues; 

 Abolish the use of more commonly littered, single-use plastics;  
 Procure low carbon products; 
 Establish green champions in the work place; 
 Ensure biodiversity impact is given due consideration as part of decision-

making; 
 Work with bodies such as WRAP Cymru and the Carbon Trust to inform policy 

decisions. 
 
 

6. Continue our long-term programme of education reform, and ensure 
educational inequalities narrow and standards rise 

The Welsh Government will work with children and young people, their families and 
the education workforce to ensure the best outcomes for learners, particularly those 
who are most vulnerable. 

I would like Arts Council of Wales to: 

 Work with the Welsh Government to extend and develop the Creative Learning 
through the Arts programme; 

 Consider how the reform of the school day and school year may impact on your 
education services and on your Arts Portfolio members; 

 Build on your successful involvement with the Summer of Fun in 2021 by 
considering how you could support a school holiday enrichment programme; 

 Support the new curriculum in Wales; 
 Develop future focused skills and employability programmes, encouraging 

young people into the sector; 
 Establish apprenticeships and volunteering opportunities to support and 

develop the next generation workforce. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Pack Page 44



 

6 
 

7. Celebrate diversity and move to eliminate inequality in all of its forms 

We must work together to achieve positive change, recognising our common humanity 
whilst celebrating diversity and difference. 

I would like Arts Council of Wales to: 

 Consider how the governance of the Arts Council supports the principles of 
'Reflecting Wales in Running Wales’ and move to urgently address any areas 
which require action – this must include improving diversity in the workforce and 
at Board level; 

 Implement the goals of the Race Equality Action Plan, considering how the Arts 
Council of Wales will directly contribute to delivering an anti-racist Wales; 

 Implement the goals of the LGBTQ+ Action Plan; 
 In partnership with Amgueddfa Cymru – National Museum Wales, develop and 

deliver an Action Plan taking forward appropriate recommendations made in 
the three widening engagement reports published in August 2021. This work 
should be done collaboratively with communities. 

 Address any remaining pay gaps based on gender, sexual orientation, ethnicity, 
disability, and other forms of discrimination which may exist in your 
organisation, and urgently address any ongoing pay disparities; 

 Ensure the histories and cultures of our Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic 
communities are properly represented by the Arts Council of Wales and its 
delivery partners; 

 Continue to strengthen your partnerships with voluntary organisations across 
the range of your responsibilities; 

 Work with the new network of Disabled People’s Employment Champions to 
help close the gap between disabled people and the rest of the working 
population; 

 Develop equality and diversity champions encompassing all protected 
characteristics; 

 Improve Arts Council of Wales’ engagement with under-represented 
communities. 

 

8. Push forward towards a million Welsh speakers, and enable our tourism, 
sports and arts industries to thrive 

The Welsh Government’s arts, culture and sports sponsored bodies are key partners 
in widening access to our heritage, harnessing creativity, and developing the sporting 
ability of the people of Wales. The Programme for Government commits to ensuring 
that you have the support you need to maintain your proper place on the world stage, 
and your role in projecting Wales to the world is just as important. You are also key 
partners in supporting our commitment to achieving a million Welsh speakers by 2050. 

I would like Arts Council of Wales to: 

 Drive forward the Programme for Government commitment to invest in our 
theatres, including Theatr Clwyd;  

 In partnership with Amgueddfa Cymru – National Museum Wales, take forward 
the development and establishment of the National Contemporary Art Gallery; 

Pack Page 45



 

7 
 

 Respond to the Cymraeg 2050 strategy by continuing to increase the number 
of Welsh speakers, the use of the Welsh language, and by creating favourable 
conditions in which the Welsh language can thrive; 

 Work in partnership with the National Centre for Learning Welsh; 
 Contribute to the development of Wales’ cultural tourism offer, helping to create 

impactful visitor experiences in attractive public spaces. 
 To support the development and implementation of a new culture strategy for 

Wales 
 
 

9. Make our cities, towns and villages even better places in which to live and 
work 

Our Programme for Government commits to supporting our partners in local 
government, and, in relation to my portfolio responsibilities, it highlights how the Welsh 
Government wants to ensure that communities can thrive as centres of social 
exchange, leisure, sport and culture. 

I would like Arts Council of Wales to: 

 Work with local communities, groups, individuals and the creative sectors to 
share good practice and develop skills; 

 Work with local communities, groups, individuals and the creative sectors to 
establish new and strong networks across Wales; 

 Work with local communities, groups, individuals and creative sectors across 
Wales to enable access the Arts. 

 

10. Lead Wales in a national civic conversation about our constitutional future, 
and give our country the strongest possible presence on the world stage 

The Programme for Government highlights the importance of Wales’ global 
relationships, of celebrating different cultures and embracing internationalism. 

The Arts Council of Wales has an important role to play in projecting Wales to the 
world. 

I would like the Arts Council of Wales to: 

 Develop international cultural partnerships that bring benefit to Wales, 
encourage engagement with diverse histories, and enhance the international 
profile of Wales; 

 Consider opportunities for learning exchange programmes; 
 Ensure the best use of digital technology, digitisation and digital events as a 

means of enabling world-wide engagement with Welsh arts and culture; 
 Engage with the Welsh diaspora. 

 

 

 

 

Pack Page 46



 

8 
 

ANNEX B: The Strategic Context 

Other Strategic Priorities, Objectives and Commitments 
 
In addition to the deliverables in Annex A, the work of Arts Council Wales could also 
play an important part in contributing to and delivering other Welsh Government policy 
priorities during this term of Government.  
 
The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 continues to be an important 
driver for our well-being priorities and our shared goals in Wales. The well-being 
objectives set out in the Programme for Government exist to support and enhance the 
delivery of these goals over this term of Government.  
 

A Greener Wales 

We are committed to addressing the climate and nature emergency. Welsh 
Government has set out its commitment to achieving net zero emissions by 2050 and 
has published its All Wales Net Zero plan: Working Together to Reach Net Zero (2021-
2025).  Our ambition is that the public sector will be carbon neutral by 2030, leading 
the way in delivering a Net Zero Wales. To support this work we have published the 
Public Sector Net Zero Reporting Guide and the Public Sector Route-map will provide 
a clear framework for how the sector will achieve net zero by 2030. 

As well as reducing emissions we also need to build resilience to the impacts of climate 
change to ensure we can continue to deliver our key public services. The Climate 
Change Committee published its third Climate Change Risk Assessment for the UK, 
which highlights a range of risks and opportunities for the environment, communities 
and businesses resulting from a changing climate. The Welsh Public Sector must 
demonstrate it has understood and taken account of the risks and opportunities in 
delivering its services.  

In March 2021, the Welsh Government published ‘Beyond Recycling – a strategy to 
make the circular economy in Wales a reality’, which outlines our goals to become 
zero waste by 2050 and for making resource efficiency part of Welsh culture. Moving 
to a circular economy is essential to the delivery of key environmental actions.  

 

A Fairer Wales 

The Programme for Government shows how we intend to maximise fairness for all 
and eliminate inequality at every level of society. It looks at how we will address the 
systemic causes of inequality in all its forms.  

During this term of Government we will publish a new Race Equality Action Plan 
(REAP) for Wales, and an action plan for advancing LGBTQ+ equality in Wales. These 
action plans should be read alongside our Strategic Equality Plan, Gender Equality 
Plan and Framework for Action on Disability. They are designed to achieve sustained 
change in the short, medium and long term, and our sponsored bodies must 
demonstrate a clear and pro-active response to achieving the goals set out in these 
plans.   

Pack Page 47



 

9 
 

We have already undertaken an audit of the Welsh Government’s services for the 
D/deaf community and the Programme for Government also commits to taking action 
to support disabled people. There is still much to do to enable them to engage with 
the arts and this must be a priority. 

We are committed to reaching out to and engaging with Wales’ vulnerable groups, 
ensuring Wales is an age-friendly nation, and that poverty, social disadvantage, ill 
health and disability should not be a barrier to participation. The Welsh Government’s 
sponsored bodies should keep their work with these groups under constant review 
and should be exemplars of good practice in widening access and tackling social 
exclusion, with the Arts Council of Wales taking clear responsibility for ensuring that 
vulnerable groups can engage appropriately with the arts in Wales.  

 

A Healthier Wales 

The Welsh Government believes that culture, the arts and sport offer a means of 
improving the health and wellbeing of a nation. Participation must therefore continue 
to be an area of focus. I would like to see the sponsored bodies in my portfolio 
engaging with new and diverse stakeholders, working with under-represented 
audiences and communities, and actively expressing the link between your work and 
the health and wellbeing of the people of Wales.   

 

Other strategies and existing legislation 

The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 continues to be an 
important driver for our wellbeing priorities and shared goals in Wales. The wellbeing 
objectives set out in the Programme for Government exist to support and enhance the 
delivery of these goals over this new term of government.  

Our Economic Action Plan is based on the principle of public investment with a social 
purpose. Central to the Plan is the Economic Contract that requires those receiving 
investment from the Welsh Government to demonstrate inclusive growth, fair work, 
promotion of health (with a special emphasis on mental health), skills and learning in 
the workplace, and progress in reducing carbon footprint.  

Our commitment to fair work and sustainability and the industries and services of the 
future includes delivering the young person’s guarantee and a promise of creating 
125,000 all age apprenticeships. I expect you to seek opportunities to contribute to the 
Young Person’s Guarantee and our goal of delivering 125,000 apprenticeships 
throughout the term of government.  

Our Programme for Government commits to strengthening this Economic Contract 
and we will continue to monitor your progress in delivering against the pillars of this 
plan. 

Our Cultural Contract aims to ensure that public funding for the arts has social, 
cultural and economic purposes. At the heart of the Cultural Contract are four 
commitments including improving the diversity of organisations’ boards, workforce and 
programmes of work alongside increasing opportunities for individual artists and 
creative freelancers. I am aware that you are currently working with Creative Wales to 

Pack Page 48



 

10 
 

develop the detail of the Cultural Contract and I encourage you to reflect this in your 
future funding of the arts sector. 

The Welsh Government’s International Strategy outlines three priority ambitions, our 
existing partnerships and our priority international relationships. Important work is 
already being undertaken through the current service level agreement between your 
international team, Wales Arts International, and the Welsh Government.  You should 
continue to work closely with the Welsh Government’s International Relations Team 
during this term of government to both lead and contribute to campaigns, programmes 
and projects which help Wales stand out on the world stage. 

Working with the Welsh diaspora and with targeted international partners for mutual 
economic, cultural and social benefit should be reflected in your strategic and 
operational plans.  

The Arts Council of Wales is an important partner in terms of Welsh tourism. Growing 
the cultural tourism offer continues to be a priority and ‘Welcome to Wales – Priorities 
for the visitor economy 2020-2025’ should be reflected in your business planning, and 
I urge you to create and maintain strong links with the Welsh Government’s tourism 
development team in furthering this area of work.  

 

The Welsh language 

The Cymraeg 2050 strategy continues to be an area of focus in our efforts to achieve 
the wellbeing goal of a thriving Welsh language, and of reaching a million Welsh 
speakers by 2050. I expect the Welsh language to be thoroughly embedded in all that 
you do, celebrating bilingualism and enabling the people of Wales to use the language 
as part of their everyday lives. The results of the 2021 Census will be known during 
this term of Government, and we will update the Cymraeg 2050 work programme for 
the strategy, but the three main themes will remain – increasing the number of Welsh 
speakers, increasing the use of the Welsh language, and creating favourable 
conditions in which the Welsh language can thrive.  

I am aware that the Arts Council has produced a Welsh Language Action Plan in 
response to earlier mapping research that you commissioned.  We would encourage 
you to ensure that implementation of the Action Plan aligns with and supports the 
Welsh Government’s objectives in this area. 

 

Cultural strategy  

During this term of Government we will create and publish a new cultural strategy for 
Wales which will define our cultural priorities for the years ahead. As key partners, I 
would like to see the sponsored bodies in my portfolio participating in the development 
of the new strategy and, once published, the strategy should underpin much of your 
long-term planning and operational activity.  

A new Wales Infrastructure Investment Strategy will also be developed during this term 
of Government, linking decisions on capital investment with the delivery of key 
strategic outcomes. It is our expectation that capital grant recipients will provide 
quantitative evidence demonstrating how the investment is helping to deliver those 
outcomes.  

Pack Page 49



 

11 
 

 

Digital Strategy for Wales  

The Digital Strategy seeks to achieve a real digital transformation of public services 
and provides an opportunity to support the ways of working described in the Well-
being of Future Generations (Wales) Act.  I would like you to ensure that as far as 
possible, all your services are available online and that people will choose to use these 
services because they are well-designed and easy to use. Please identify 
opportunities to work with partners in the arts sector on digital initiatives to promote 
engagement with the arts and to promote learning, education and enjoyment.   

 

Pack Page 50



Dawn Bowden AS/MS 
Dirprwy Weinidog y Celfyddydau a Chwaraeon, a’r Prif Chwip 

Deputy Minister for Arts and Sport, and Chief Whip 

 
 
 

 
Mr Ashok Ahir 
Interim President - The National Library of Wales 
Ffordd Penglais 
Aberystwyth 
SY23 3BU 
 

 

22 December 2021 

 

Dear Ashok, 

Term of Government Remit Letter for The National Library of Wales 

I would like to convey my thanks to the National Library of Wales for the important 
work it has undertaken in responding to the Covid-19 pandemic. The sponsored 
bodies in my portfolio have shown leadership, adaptability and resilience during 
challenging circumstances. We must now move to ensure the Welsh Government’s 
investment supports the recovery of our sectors, our people and of Wales as a whole. 
Despite the very severe challenges it has presented, there is an opportunity for us to 
seek the positive learning from Covid-19, and to maintain the momentum achieved on 
the enhanced access to culture via digitisation, new digital technologies and digital 
events. 

I expect the Library to continue to fulfil the statutory responsibilities set out in your 
Royal Charter, functioning as the only legal deposit library in Wales, and maintaining 
the Library’s status as a Place of Deposit for public records and an Accredited Archive 
Service.  Our Programme for Government outlines the Welsh Government’s priorities 
and its commitments to the people of Wales. In return for the grant in aid funding the 
Welsh Government provides, I ask the National Library of Wales to consider how it 
can deliver its objectives in a way that is consistent with the values of the Welsh 
Government.  

Our shared goals should be: 

 Decarbonisation;  
 Addressing all inequality and achieving an anti-racist Wales;  
 Improving access and participation for all;  
 Promoting health and well-being; 
 Creating opportunities for young people; and  
 Projecting a powerful and positive image of Wales to the world. 

Pack Page 51



 

2 
 

At Annex A, I have outlined areas where I feel the National Library of Wales can 
contribute to delivering the Programme for Government. The current strategic context 
for the work of Welsh Government’s sponsored bodies is captured at Annex B.  

Partnership working is important in achieving our common aims. I am convinced that 
the sponsored bodies within my portfolio could achieve so much more by working 
collaboratively, and I encourage you to work together as cultural leaders to maximise 
your impact. 

Widening access and participation, improving income generation and maintaining the 
financial stability of the Library are fundamental expectations. I am convinced that the 
National Library of Wales should not just reflect contemporary Wales but be at the 
heart of it. 

You should continue with the implementation of the recommendations of the Tailored 
Review and work to have this programme of activity completed in the early part of this 
Term of Government. Delivering the National Broadcast Archive and ensuring the 
people of Wales are able to engage with its contents must also be a key focus. 

I would like to remind you of your legal duty under the Children and Families (Wales) 
Measure 2010. Under Part 1, the Measure requires you to publish child poverty 
objectives as part of a strategy for contributing to the eradication of child poverty in 
Wales. I would like you to think about actions which support the well-being of children 
and young people living in poverty, and encourage you to consider opportunities to 
discharge your legal obligations under the duty within your existing organisational 
processes. 

In line with the Framework Document, which underpins the relationship between The 
National Library of Wales and the Welsh Government, you should now move to review 
your business plans, demonstrating how you will deliver against the areas outlined in 
this letter and its appendices. 

The need for The National Library of Wales to act independently on a day-to-day basis 
is clear, and it is my intention that our relationship will continue to be based on mutual 
trust and respect, and on open and honest communication. 

There is much to do, but I am convinced that my portfolio can make a positive and 
lasting difference to people’s lives.  I look forward to working with you to achieve this.  

Yours sincerely, 

 
 
Dawn Bowden AS/MS 
Deputy Minister for Arts and Sport, and Chief Whip 
 
cc Pedr ap Llwyd 

Pack Page 52



 

3 
 

 

ANNEX A: Key Deliverables 

For each of these key deliverables my officials will work with you to determine, 
and agree appropriate performance indicators in advance of the financial year 
2022-23. These performance indicators should be reported quarterly, as part of 
the regular monitoring arrangements, and throughout the duration of this term 
of Government. 
 
 

1. Provide effective, high quality and sustainable healthcare 

Our Programme for Government emphasises improving mental health provision and 
has a focus on prevention, supporting people to live healthy lives, tackling stigma in 
mental health, and introducing an all-Wales framework to roll out social prescribing as 
a means of tackling isolation. 
 

I would like the National Library of Wales to: 

 Implement ways of supporting good mental health across the organisation, 
ensuring that there is no stigma attached to mental health issues; 

 Ensure that the workforce is appropriately trained to support those suffering 
from mental health issues; 

 Engage with the development of the proposed all-Wales framework for social 
prescribing, and, specifically, work to identify areas where the Library could 
support social prescribing to tackle isolation and support well-being.  

 

2. Protect, re-build and develop our services for vulnerable people 

The focus of the Programme for Government in this area relates to integrated care 
services, supporting vulnerable citizens, including children, young people and families 
who face the greatest challenges. I believe our sponsored bodies should help the 
people of Wales to live meaningful lives, and you should consider how you can 
improve your support to people in vulnerable and / or disadvantaged groups. 

I would like the National Library of Wales to: 

 Ensure that the broadest range of vulnerable groups can engage with Welsh 
culture and are not excluded from participation. This should include identifying 
and delivering specific opportunities that enable people in vulnerable or 
disadvantaged groups and those in under-represented communities to benefit 
from the services you offer; 

 Be pro-active about ensuring that the organisation is supporting Welsh 
Government’s commitment to being an age-friendly nation; 

 Consider the opportunities you currently offer to looked after children and care 
leavers and how these could be improved; 

 Review your current support for D/deaf communities and for those living with 
other disabilities, including hidden disabilities, and work towards a continued 
enhancement of these services. 

Pack Page 53



 

4 
 

 

3. Build an economy based on the principles of fair work, sustainability and 
the industries and services of the future 

Aligning with strengthening our Economic Contract, our Programme for Government 
seeks to ensure a renewed focus on young people via the Young Person’s Guarantee. 
Social partnership, sustainable jobs, disabled people’s employment champions, and 
supporting local supply chains are key components of this commitment. 

I would like the National Library of Wales to: 

 Provide a new or improved range of options to support the young people of 
Wales into work – these could include apprenticeships, training, work 
experience and mentoring programmes and should be aligned with the Young 
Person’s Guarantee; 

 Use the new network of Disabled People’s Employment Champions to help 
close the gap between disabled people and the rest of the working population; 

 Work towards a minimum 30% target for working from home, based on a 
blended approach which is fair and equitable; 

 Develop and strengthen your existing procurement processes to help support 
local supply chains; 

 Seek to increase its financial sustainability, supported by appropriate income 
generation activity; 

 Build and strengthen local, regional, national and international partnerships for 
the benefit of National Library of Wales, the Welsh economy and the people of 
Wales. 

  

 

4. Build a stronger, greener economy as we make maximum progress towards 
decarbonisation 

Our Programme for Government has an emphasis on sustainable growth, and on new 
digital, economic and transport infrastructures that can help re-energise our 
communities.  

I would like the National Library of Wales to: 

 Support the Welsh Government’s commitment to achieving a zero-carbon 
economy by working to become carbon neutral by 2030; 

 Support the Welsh Government’s target of 45% of journeys being undertaken 
by sustainable modes by 2040; 

 Review your current digital activity following the recent acceleration of digital 
engagement during Covid-19. You should identify and address areas of 
weakness, look for examples of best practice within your own organisation and 
by other organisations, and seek to build on the successes of 2020-21.Continue 
to develop capability in the curation and preservation of born-digital material.  

 

 

 

Pack Page 54



 

5 
 

5. Embed our response to the climate and nature emergency in everything we 
do 

The Welsh Government is focused on a green transformation as part of our ambition 
to address the climate emergency. 

I would like the National Library of Wales to: 

 Focus on waste reduction across the whole of the organisation and work to 
achieve zero waste targets and abolishing the use of more commonly littered, 
single-use plastics; 

 Procure low carbon products; 
 Establish green champions in the work place; 
 Ensure biodiversity impact is given due consideration as part of decision-

making; 
 Work with bodies such as WRAP Cymru and the Carbon Trust to inform policy 

decisions in response to the climate and nature emergency. 
 
 

6. Continue our long-term programme of education reform, and ensure 
educational inequalities narrow and standards rise 

The Welsh Government will work with children and young people, their families and 
the education workforce to ensure the best outcomes for learners, particularly those 
who are most vulnerable. 

I would like the National Library of Wales to: 

 Consider how the reform of the school day and school year may impact on your 
education services; 

 Consider how you could support a school holiday enrichment programme; 
 Support the new curriculum in Wales; 
 Develop future focused skills and employability programmes, encouraging 

young people into the sector and ensuring specialist skills can be shared; 
 Establish apprenticeships and volunteering opportunities to support and 

develop the next generation workforce; 
 Support researchers and the academic community. 

 
 

7. Celebrate diversity and move to eliminate inequality in all of its forms 

We must work together to achieve positive change, recognising our common humanity 
whilst celebrating diversity and difference. 

I would like the National Library of Wales to: 

 Consider how the governance of the Library supports the principles of 
'Reflecting Wales in Running Wales’ and move to urgently address any areas 
which require action – this must include improving diversity in the workforce and 
at Board level; 

 Implement the goals of the Race Equality Action Plan, considering hwo the 
National Library of Wales will directly contribute to delivering an anti-racist 
Wales; 

Pack Page 55



 

6 
 

 Implement the goals of the LGBTQ+ Action Plan; 
 Address any remaining pay gaps based on gender, sexual orientation, ethnicity, 

disability, and other forms of discrimination which may exist in your 
organisation, and urgently address any ongoing pay disparities; 

 Ensure the histories and cultures of our Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic 
communities are properly represented by The National Library of Wales and its 
delivery partners; 

 Continue to strengthen partnerships with voluntary organisations across the 
range of your responsibilities; 

 Work with the new network of Disabled People’s Employment Champions to 
help close the gap between disabled people and the rest of the working 
population; 

 Develop equality and diversity champions encompassing all protected 
characteristics; 

 Improve the Library’s engagement with under-represented communities. 

 

8. Push forward towards a million Welsh speakers, and enable our tourism, 
sports and arts industries to thrive 

The Welsh Government’s culture and sports sponsored bodies are key partners in 
widening access to our heritage, harnessing creativity, and developing the sporting 
ability of the people of Wales. The Programme for Government commits to ensuring 
that you have the support you need to maintain your proper place on the world stage, 
and, equally, your role in projecting Wales to the world is important. You are also a 
key partner in supporting our commitment to achieving a million Welsh speakers by 
2050. 

I would like the National Library of Wales to: 

 Work with Amgueddfa Cymru and other key partners to drive forward the 
establishment of the National Contemporary Art Gallery’s presence in mid-
Wales; 

 Develop Wales’ cultural tourism offer at the Library in Aberystwyth and at its 
satellite sites, ensuring impactful visitor experiences in attractive public spaces; 

 Ensure that the Library is a family-friendly visitor destination; 
 Successfully deliver the National Broadcast Archive and a strong and far-

reaching community engagement programme related to this initiative; 
 Work to protect Welsh place names; 
 Ensure that the Library delivers a comprehensive and bilingual education 

programme; 
 Respond to the Cymraeg 2050 strategy by continuing to increase the number 

of Welsh speakers, the use of the Welsh language, and creating favourable 
conditions in which the Welsh language can thrive; 

 To support the development and implementation of a new culture strategy for 
Wales 

 Work in partnership with the National Centre for Learning Welsh; 
 Develop a long-term plan for the care and maintenance of the Library’s iconic 

building and collections, including a strategic plan for appropriate storage 
facilities for the Library’s collections. 

Pack Page 56



 

7 
 

9. Make our cities, towns and villages even better places in which to live and 
work 

Our Programme for Government commits to supporting our partners in local 
government, and, in relation to my portfolio responsibilities, it highlights how the Welsh 
Government wants to ensure that communities can thrive as centres of social 
exchange, leisure, sport and culture. 

I would like the National Library of Wales to: 

 Work with local libraries, archives and museums sectors to share good practice 
and develop skills; 

 Work with local libraries, archives and museums sectors to raise awareness of, 
and improve the reach of the national collections; 

 Continue to work with local libraries to further develop the National Digital 
Library Service for Wales; 

 Work to develop the bilingual interface for the Archives Hub; 
 Work to enhance the local sectors’ engagement with the National Library’s 

crowdsourcing platform; 
 Continue to develop the National Library’s volunteer programme.  

 
 

10. Lead Wales in a national civic conversation about our constitutional future, 
and give our country the strongest possible presence on the world stage 

The Programme for Government highlights the importance of Wales’ global 
relationships, of celebrating different cultures and embracing internationalism. 

The National Library of Wales has an important role to play in projecting Wales to the 
world. 

I would like the National Library of Wales to: 

 Develop international cultural partnerships that bring benefit to Wales, 
encourage engagement with diverse histories, and enhance the international 
profile of the Library and of Wales; 

 Consider opportunities for learning exchange programmes; 
 Ensure the best use of digital technology, digitisation and digital events as a 

means of enabling world-wide engagement with Welsh culture; 
 Engage with the Welsh diaspora. 

 

  

Pack Page 57



 

8 
 

ANNEX B: The Strategic Context 

 
Other Strategic Priorities, Objectives and Commitments 
 
In addition to the deliverables in Annex A, the work of the National Library of Wales 
Wales could also play an important part in contributing to and delivering other Welsh 
Government policy priorities during this term of Government.  
 
The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 continues to be an important 
driver for our well-being priorities and our shared goals in Wales. The well-being 
objectives set out in the Programme for Government exist to support and enhance the 
delivery of these goals over this term of Government.  
 

A Greener Wales 

We are committed to addressing the climate and nature emergency. Welsh 
Government has set out its commitment to achieving net zero emissions by 2050 and 
has published its All Wales Net Zero plan: Working Together to Reach Net Zero (2021-
2025). Our ambition is that the public sector will be carbon neutral by 2030, leading 
the way in delivering a Net Zero Wales. To support this work we have published the 
Public Sector Net Zero Reporting Guide and the Public Sector Route-map will provide 
a clear framework for how the sector will achieve net zero by 2030. 
 
As well as reducing emissions we also need to build resilience to the impacts of climate 
change to ensure we can continue to deliver our key public services. The Climate 
Change Committee published its third Climate Change Risk Assessment for the UK, 
which highlights a range of risks and opportunities for the environment, communities 
and businesses resulting from a changing climate. The Welsh Public Sector must 
demonstrate it has understood and taken account of the risks and opportunities in 
delivering its services.  
 
In March 2021, the Welsh Government published ‘Beyond Recycling – a strategy to 
make the circular economy in Wales a reality’, which outlines our goals to become 
zero waste by 2050 and for making resource efficiency part of Welsh culture. Moving 
to a circular economy is essential to the delivery of key environmental actions.  
 

A Fairer Wales 

The Programme for Government shows how we intend to maximise fairness for all 
and eliminate inequality at every level of society. It looks at how we will address the 
systemic causes of inequality in all its forms.  

During this term of Government we will publish a new Race Equality Action Plan 
(REAP) for Wales, and an action plan for advancing LGBTQ+ equality in Wales. These 
action plans should be read alongside our Strategic Equality Plan, Gender Equality 
Plan and Framework for Action on Disability. They are designed to achieve sustained 
change in the short, medium and long term, and our sponsored bodies must 
demonstrate a clear and pro-active response to achieving the goals set out in these 
plans.   

Pack Page 58



 

9 
 

We have already undertaken an audit of the Welsh Government’s services for the 
D/deaf community and the Programme for Government also commits to taking action 
to support disabled people. There is still much to do to enable them to engage with 
culture and this must be a priority. 

We are committed to reaching out to and engaging with Wales’ vulnerable groups, 
ensuring Wales is an age-friendly nation, and that poverty, social disadvantage, ill 
health and disability should not be a barrier to participation. The Welsh Government’s 
sponsored bodies should keep their work with these groups under constant review 
and should be exemplars of good practice in widening access and tackling social 
exclusion, with the National Library of Wales taking clear responsibility for ensuring 
that vulnerable groups can engage appropriately with culture in Wales.  

 

A Healthier Wales 

The Welsh Government believes that culture, the arts and sport offer a means of 
improving the health and wellbeing of a nation. Participation must therefore continue 
to be an area of focus. I would like to see the sponsored bodies in my portfolio 
engaging with new and diverse stakeholders, working with under-represented 
audiences and communities, and actively expressing the link between your work and 
the health and wellbeing of the people of Wales.   

 

Other strategies and existing legislation 

The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 continues to be an 
important driver for our wellbeing priorities and shared goals in Wales. The wellbeing 
objectives set out in the Programme for Government exist to support and enhance the 
delivery of these goals over this new term of government.  

Our Economic Action Plan is based on the principle of public investment with a social 
purpose. Central to the Plan is the Economic Contract that requires those receiving 
investment from the Welsh Government to demonstrate inclusive growth, fair work, 
promotion of health (with a special emphasis on mental health), skills and learning in 
the workplace, and progress in reducing carbon footprint.  

Our commitment to fair work and sustainability and the industries and services of the 
future includes delivering the young person’s guarantee and a promise of creating 
125,000 all age apprenticeships. I expect you to seek opportunities to contribute to the 
Young Person’s Guarantee and our goal of delivering 125,000 apprenticeships 
throughout the term of government. 

Our Programme for Government commits to strengthening this Economic Contract 
and we will continue to monitor your progress in delivering against the pillars of this 
plan. 

 
Our Cultural Contract aims to ensure that public funding for culture and creativity has 
social, cultural and economic purposes. At the heart of the Cultural Contract are four 
commitments including improving the diversity of organisations’ boards, workforce and 
programmes of work alongside increasing opportunities for individual artists and 
creative freelancers.  

Pack Page 59



 

10 
 

Welsh Government’s International Strategy outlines three priority ambitions, our 
existing partnerships and our priority international relationships. Culture, Arts and 
Sport sponsored bodies should work closely with the Welsh Government’s 
International Relations Team during this term of government to both lead and 
contribute to campaigns, programmes and projects which help Wales stand out on the 
world stage. 

Working with the Welsh diaspora and with targeted international partners for mutual 
economic, cultural and social benefit should be reflected in your strategic and 
operational plans.  

The National Library is an important partner in terms of Welsh tourism. Growing the 
cultural tourism offer continues to be a priority and ‘Welcome to Wales – Priorities for 
the visitor economy 2020-2025’ should be reflected in your business planning, and I 
urge you to create and maintain strong links with the Welsh Government’s tourism 
development team in furthering this area of work.  

 

The Welsh language 

The Cymraeg 2050 strategy continues to be an area of focus in our efforts to achieve 
the wellbeing goal of a thriving Welsh language, and of reaching a million Welsh 
speakers by 2050. I expect the Welsh language to be thoroughly embedded in all that 
you do, celebrating bilingualism and enabling the people of Wales to use the language 
as part of their everyday lives. The results of the 2021 Census will be known during 
this term of Government, and we will update the Cymraeg 2050 work programme for 
the strategy, but the three main themes will remain – increasing the number of Welsh 
speakers, increasing the use of the Welsh language, and creating favourable 
conditions in which the Welsh language can thrive.  

 

Cultural strategy  

During this term of Government we will create and publish a new cultural strategy for 
Wales which will define our cultural priorities for the years ahead. As key partners, I 
would like to see the sponsored bodies in my portfolio participating in the development 
of the new strategy and, once published, the strategy should underpin much of your 
long-term planning and operational activity.  

A new Wales Infrastructure Investment Strategy will also be developed during this term 
of Government, linking decisions on capital investment with the delivery of key 
strategic outcomes. It is an expectation that capital grant recipients will provide 
quantitative evidence demonstrating how the investment is helping to deliver those 
outcomes.  

 

Digital Strategy for Wales  

The Digital Strategy seeks to achieve a real digital transformation of public services 
and provides an opportunity to support the ways of working described in the Well-
being of Future Generations (Wales) Act.  I would like you to ensure that as far as 
possible all your services are available online, and that people will choose to use these 

Pack Page 60



 

11 
 

services because they are well designed and easy to use. Please identify opportunities 
to work with partners in the cultural heritage sector on digital initiatives to promote use 
of your collections and resources and to promote learning, education and enjoyment.   

 

Pack Page 61



Dawn Bowden AS/MS 
Dirprwy Weinidog y Celfyddydau a Chwaraeon, a’r Prif Chwip 

Deputy Minister for Arts and Sport, and Chief Whip 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Nancy Edwards 
Chair  
Royal Commission on the Ancient and Historical Monuments of Wales 
Ffordd Penglais 
Aberystwyth  
SY23 3BU 
 

22 December 2021 

 

Dear Nancy, 

Term of Government Remit Letter for the Royal Commission on the Ancient and 
Historical Monuments of Wales 

I would like to convey my thanks to the Royal Commission on the Ancient and 
Historical Monuments of Wales (the Royal Commission) for the important work it has 
undertaken in responding to the Covid-19 pandemic. The sponsored bodies in my 
portfolio have shown leadership, adaptability and resilience during challenging 
circumstances. We must now move to ensure that the Welsh Government’s 
investment supports the recovery of our sectors, our people and of Wales as a whole. 
Despite the very severe challenges it has presented, there is an opportunity for us to 
seek the positive learning from Covid-19, and to maintain the momentum achieved on 
the enhanced access to culture via digitisation, new digital technologies, and digital 
events.  

Our Programme for Government outlines the Welsh Government’s priorities and its 
commitments to the people of Wales. In return for the grant funding the Welsh 
Government provides, I ask the Royal Commission to consider how it can deliver its 
responsibilities in a way that is consistent with the values of the Welsh Government.  

Our shared goals should be: 

 Decarbonisation;  
 Addressing all inequality and achieving an anti-racist Wales;  
 Improving access and participation for all;  
 Promoting health and well-being; 
 Creating opportunities for young people; and  
 Projecting a powerful and positive image of Wales to the world. 

 

Pack Page 62



 

2 
 

At Annex A, I have outlined the areas where I feel the Royal Commission can 
contribute to delivering the Programme for Government.  The current strategic context 
for the work of the Welsh Government’s sponsored bodies is captured at Annex B.  

The Royal Commission will be a key delivery partner for a number of Programme for 
Government commitments, including protecting Welsh language place names. I look 
forward to receiving your valuable support and expertise in taking these commitments 
forward. 

Partnership working is important in achieving our aim of widening access, participation 
and engagement. I am convinced that the sponsored bodies within my portfolio could 
achieve so much more when working collaboratively, and I encourage you to work 
together as cultural leaders to maximise your impact. 

In addition to the Royal Commission’s core work, as laid out in its Royal Warrant, 
maintaining your statutory responsibilities and professional standards including your 
status as a recognised Place of Deposit for public records and retaining Archive 
Service Accreditation, I see further opportunities for the Royal Commission to 
contribute positively to the delivery of the Programme for Government. This includes 
expanding your work promoting the List of Historic Place Names and the Historic 
Environment and Climate Change Sector Adaptation Plan, as well as developing new 
initiatives in response to our core objectives.    

In line with the Framework Document, which underpins the relationship between the 
Royal Commission and the Welsh Government, you should now move to review your 
business plans, demonstrating how you will deliver against the areas outlined in this 
letter and its appendices. 

There is much to do, but I am convinced that my portfolio can make a positive and 
lasting difference to people’s lives.  I look forward to working with you to achieve this.  

 

Yours sincerely 

 
 
Dawn Bowden AS/MS 
Deputy Minister for Arts and Sport, and Chief Whip 
 
cc Christopher Catling, Secretary  

Pack Page 63



 

3 
 

ANNEX A: Key Deliverables 
 
For each of these key deliverables my officials will work with you to determine, 
and agree appropriate performance indicators in advance of the financial year 
2022-23. These performance indicators should be reported quarterly, as part of 
the regular monitoring arrangements, and throughout the duration of this term 
of Government. 
 
 

1. Provide effective, high quality and sustainable healthcare 

Our Programme for Government emphasises improving mental health provision and 
has a focus on prevention, supporting people to live healthy lives, tackling stigma in 
mental health, and introducing an all-Wales framework to roll out social prescribing as 
a means of tackling isolation. 
 

I would like the Royal Commission to: 
 

 Implement ways of supporting good mental health across the organisation, 
ensuring that there is no stigma attached to mental health issues; 

 Ensure that the workforce is appropriately trained to support those suffering 
from mental health issues; 

 Engage with the development of the proposed all-Wales framework for social 
prescribing, and, specifically, work to identify areas where the Royal 
Commission could support social prescribing to tackle isolation and support 
well-being.  

 

2. Protect, re-build and develop our services for vulnerable people 

The focus of the Programme for Government in this area relates to integrated care 
services, supporting vulnerable citizens, including children, young people and families 
who face the greatest challenges. I believe our sponsored bodies should help the 
people of Wales to live meaningful lives, and you should consider how you can 
improve your support to people in vulnerable and / or disadvantaged groups. 

I would like the Royal Commission to: 
 

 Ensure that the broadest range of vulnerable groups can engage with Welsh 
culture and are not excluded from participation. This should include identifying 
and delivering specific opportunities that enable people in vulnerable or 
disadvantaged groups and those in under-represented communities to benefit 
from the services you offer.  

 Be pro-active about ensuring that the organisation is supporting the Welsh 
Government’s commitment to being an age-friendly nation; 

 Review your current support for D/deaf communities and for those living with 
other disabilities, including hidden disabilities, and work towards a continued 
enhancement of these services. 

 

Pack Page 64



 

4 
 

3. Build an economy based on the principles of fair work, sustainability and 
the industries and services of the future 

Aligning with strengthening our Economic Contract, our Programme for Government 
seeks to ensure a renewed focus on young people via the Young Person’s Guarantee. 
Social partnership, sustainable jobs, disabled people’s employment champions, and 
supporting local supply chains are key components of this commitment. 

I would like the Royal Commission to: 
 

 Provide a new or improved range of options to support the young people of 
Wales into work – these could include apprenticeships, training, work 
experience and mentoring programmes and should be aligned with the Young 
Person’s Guarantee; 

 Use the new network of Disabled People’s Employment Champions to help 
close the gap between disabled people and the rest of the working population; 

 Work towards a minimum 30% target for working from home; 
 Develop and strengthen your existing procurement processes to help support 

local supply chains. 
 
 

4. Build a stronger, greener economy as we make maximum progress towards 
decarbonisation 

Our Programme for Government has an emphasis on sustainable growth, and on new 
digital, economic and transport infrastructures that can help re-energise our 
communities.  

I would like the Royal Commission to: 
 

 Work to protect Welsh place names by leading a task and finish group who will 
identify, develop and make recommendations to the Royal Commission on how 
they can enhance and promote the list of historic place names; 

 Support the Welsh Government’s commitment to achieving a zero-carbon 
economy by working to become carbon neutral by 2030; 

 Support the Welsh Government’s target of 45% of journeys being undertaken 
by sustainable modes by 2040;  

 Review your current digital activity following the recent acceleration of digital 
engagement during Covid-19. You should identify and address areas of 
weakness, look for examples of best practice within your own organisation and 
by other organisations, and seek to build on the successes of 2020-21. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Pack Page 65



 

5 
 

5. Embed our response to the climate and nature emergency in everything we 
do 

The Welsh Government is focused on a green transformation as part of our ambition 
to address the climate emergency. 

I would like the Royal Commission to: 
 Continue your work contributing to the delivery of the Historic Environment and 

the Climate Change in Wales Sector Adaptation Plan, taking leadership for 
areas of work related to Royal Commission expertise; 

 Reduce waste across the organisation to achieve zero waste targets; 
 Establish green champions in the work place; 
 Ensure biodiversity impact is given due consideration as part of decision-

making. 
 

6. Continue our long-term programme of education reform, and ensure 
educational inequalities narrow and standards rise 

The Welsh Government will work with children and young people, their families and 
the education workforce to ensure the best outcomes for learners, particularly those 
who are most vulnerable. 

I would like the Royal Commission to: 
 Work with partners in the cultural sector to develop a school holiday enrichment 

programme; 
 Support the new curriculum in Wales. 

 
 

7. Celebrate diversity and move to eliminate inequality in all of its forms 

We must work together to achieve positive change, recognising our common humanity 
whilst celebrating diversity and difference. 

I would like the Royal Commission to: 
 Consider how the governance of your organisation supports the principles of 

'Reflecting Wales in Running Wales’ and move urgently to address any areas 
which require action and develop a plan for improving diversity in the workforce 
and at board level’; 

 Implement the goals of the Race Equality Action Plan and of the LGBTQ+ 
Action Plan; 

 Ensure the histories and cultures of our Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic 
communities are properly represented by the Royal Commission and its 
delivery partners 

 Strengthen your partnership with voluntary organisations across the range of 
your responsibilities 

 Develop equality and diversity champions encompassing all protected 
characteristics, and improve the Commission’s engagement with hard to reach 
communities. 

 

Pack Page 66



 

6 
 

8. Push forward towards a million Welsh speakers, and enable our tourism, 
sports and arts industries to thrive 

The Welsh Government’s culture and sports sponsored bodies are key partners in 
widening access to our heritage, harnessing creativity, and developing the sporting 
ability of the people of Wales. The Programme for Government commits to ensuring 
that you have the support you need to maintain your proper place on the world stage, 
and, equally, your role in projecting Wales to the world is important. You are also a 
key partner in supporting our commitment to achieving a million Welsh speakers by 
2050. 

I would like the Royal Commission to: 
 

 Continue to support the protection and management of the newly inscribed 
Slate Landscape of North West Wales World Heritage Site by contributing to its 
management groups and delivering actions in the Property Management Plan 
including bi-lingual publication of Caring For Slate Landscapes of Wales; 

 Respond to the Cymraeg 2050 strategy by continuing to increase the number 
of Welsh speakers, the use of the Welsh language, and by creating 
favourable conditions in which the Welsh language can thrive. 

 To support the development and implementation of a new culture strategy for 
Wales 
 
 

9. Make our cities, towns and villages even better places in which to live and 
work 

Our Programme for Government commits to supporting our partners in local 
government, and, in relation to my portfolio responsibilities, it highlights how the Welsh 
Government wants to ensure that communities can thrive as centres of social 
exchange, leisure, sport and culture. 

I would like the Royal Commission to: 
 

 Support the active management of the historic environment; 
 Provide support for local authority conservation services and work with Cadw 

on the identification of priorities for the recording of historic assets at risk; 
 Support participation in discovering and sharing diverse heritage at a local level; 
 Continue to work with Cadw to identify priority C20 buildings to record, and to 

encourage community engagement with this activity. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Pack Page 67



 

7 
 

10. Lead Wales in a national civic conversation about our constitutional future, 
and give our country the strongest possible presence on the world stage 

The Programme for Government highlights the importance of Wales’ global 
relationships, of celebrating different cultures and embracing internationalism. 

The Royal Commission has an important role to play in projecting Wales to the world. 

I would like the Royal Commission to: 
 

 Develop international cultural partnerships that bring benefit to Wales, 
encourage engagement with diverse histories, and enhance the international 
profile of Wales; 

 Consider opportunities for learning exchange programmes; 
 Ensure the best use of digital technology, digitisation and digital events in your 

outreach activities as a means of enabling world-wide engagement with Welsh 
culture; 

 Engage with the Welsh diaspora. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Pack Page 68



 

8 
 

ANNEX B: The Strategic Context 

Other Strategic Priorities, Objectives and Commitments 
 
In addition to the deliverables in Annex A, the work of the Royal Commission could 
also play an important part in contributing to and delivering other Welsh Government 
policy priorities during this term of Government.  
 
The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 continues to be an important 
driver for our well-being priorities and our shared goals in Wales. The well-being 
objectives set out in the Programme for Government exist to support and enhance 
the delivery of these goals over this term of Government.  

 

A Greener Wales 

We are committed to addressing the climate and nature emergency. Welsh 
Government has set out its commitment to achieving net zero emissions by 2050 and 
has published its All Wales Net Zero plan: Working Together to Reach Net Zero (2021-
2025). Our ambition is that the public sector will be carbon neutral by 2030, leading 
the way in delivering a Net Zero Wales. To support this work we have published the 
Public Sector Net Zero Reporting Guide and the Public Sector Route-map will provide 
a clear framework for how the sector will achieve net zero by 2030. 
 
As well as reducing emissions we also need to build resilience to the impacts of climate 
change to ensure we can continue to deliver our key public services. The Climate 
Change Committee published its third Climate Change Risk Assessment for the UK, 
which highlights a range of risks and opportunities for the environment, communities 
and businesses resulting from a changing climate. The Welsh Public Sector must 
demonstrate it has understood and taken account of the risks and opportunities in 
delivering its services.  
 
In this context I am aware that the Royal Commission has played a significant role in 
the development of the historic environment sector adaptation plan (SAP), and I am 
keen to see the Royal Commission continue to  contribute  through the 
implementation and delivery phases of the plan. 
 
In March 2021, the Welsh Government published ‘Beyond Recycling – a strategy to 
make the circular economy in Wales a reality’, which outlines our goals to become 
zero waste by 2050 and for making resource efficiency part of Welsh culture. Moving 
to a circular economy is essential to the delivery of key environmental actions.  
 

A Fairer Wales 

The Programme for Government shows how we intend to maximise fairness for all 
and eliminate inequality at every level of society. It looks at how we will address the 
systemic causes of inequality in all its forms.  

During this term of Government we will publish a new Race Equality Action Plan 
(REAP) for Wales, and an action plan for advancing LGBTQ+ equality in Wales. These 

Pack Page 69



 

9 
 

action plans should be read alongside our Strategic Equality Plan, Gender Equality 
Plan and Framework for Action on Disability. They are designed to achieve sustained 
change in the short, medium and long term, and our sponsored bodies must 
demonstrate a clear and pro-active response to achieving the goals set out in these 
plans.   

We have already undertaken an audit of the Welsh Government’s services for the 
D/deaf community and the Programme for Government also commits to taking action 
to support disabled people. There is still much to do to enable them to engage with 
culture and this must be a priority. 

We are committed to reaching out to and engaging with Wales’ vulnerable groups, 
ensuring Wales is an age-friendly nation, and that poverty, social disadvantage, ill 
health and disability should not be a barrier to participation. The Welsh Government’s 
sponsored bodies should keep their work with these groups under constant review 
and should be exemplars of good practice in widening access and tackling social 
exclusion.  

 

A Healthier Wales 

The Welsh Government believes that culture, the arts and sport offer a means of 
improving the health and wellbeing of a nation. Participation must therefore continue 
to be an area of focus. I would like to see the sponsored bodies in my portfolio 
engaging with new and diverse stakeholders, working with under-represented 
audiences and communities, and actively expressing the link between your work and 
the health and wellbeing of the people of Wales.   

 

Other strategies and existing legislation 

The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 continues to be an 
important driver for our wellbeing priorities and shared goals in Wales. The wellbeing 
objectives set out in the Programme for Government exist to support and enhance the 
delivery of these goals over this new term of government.  

Our Economic Action Plan is based on the principle of public investment with a social 
purpose. Central to the Plan is the Economic Contract that requires those receiving 
investment from the Welsh Government to demonstrate inclusive growth, fair work, 
promotion of health (with a special emphasis on mental health), skills and learning in 
the workplace, and progress in reducing carbon footprint.  

Our commitment to fair work and sustainability and the industries and services of the 
future includes delivering the young person’s guarantee and a promise of creating 
125,000 all age apprenticeships. I expect you to seek opportunities to contribute to the 
Young Person’s Guarantee and our goal of delivering 125,000 apprenticeships 
throughout the term of Government.  

Our Programme for Government commits to strengthening this Economic Contract 
and we will continue to monitor your progress in delivering against the pillars of this 
plan. 

 

Pack Page 70



 

10 
 

Our Cultural Contract aims to ensure that public funding for culture and creativity has 
social, cultural and economic purposes. At the heart of the Cultural Contract are four 
commitments including improving the diversity of organisations’ boards, workforce and 
programmes of work alongside increasing opportunities for individual artists and 
creative freelancers.  
 
Welsh Government’s International Strategy outlines three priority ambitions, our 
existing partnerships and our priority international relationships. Culture, Arts and 
Sport sponsored bodies should work closely with the Welsh Government’s 
International Relations Team during this term of government to both lead and 
contribute to campaigns, programmes and projects which help Wales stand out on the 
world stage. 

Working with the Welsh diaspora and with targeted international partners for mutual 
economic, cultural and social benefit should be reflected in your strategic and 
operational plans.  

The Royal Commission is an important partner in terms of Welsh tourism. Growing the 
cultural tourism offer continues to be a priority and ‘Welcome to Wales – Priorities for 
the visitor economy 2020-2025’ should be reflected in your business planning.  

 

The Welsh language 

The Cymraeg 2050 strategy continues to be an area of focus in our efforts to achieve 
the wellbeing goal of a thriving Welsh language, and of reaching a million Welsh 
speakers by 2050. I expect the Welsh language to be thoroughly embedded in all that 
you do, celebrating bilingualism and enabling the people of Wales to use the language 
as part of their everyday lives. The results of the 2021 Census will be known during 
this term of Government, and we will update the Cymraeg 2050 work programme for 
the strategy, but the three main themes will remain – increasing the number of Welsh 
speakers, increasing the use of the Welsh language, and creating favourable 
conditions in which the Welsh language can thrive.  

 

Cultural strategy  

During this term of Government we will create and publish a new cultural strategy for 
Wales which will define our cultural priorities for the years ahead. As key partners, I 
would like to see the sponsored bodies in my portfolio participating in the development 
of the new strategy and, once published, the strategy should underpin much of your 
long-term planning and operational activity.  

A new Wales Infrastructure Investment Strategy will also be developed during this term 
of Government, linking decisions on capital investment with the delivery of key 
strategic outcomes. It is an expectation that capital grant recipients will provide 
quantitative evidence demonstrating how the investment is helping to deliver those 
outcomes.  

 

 

Pack Page 71



 

11 
 

Digital Strategy for Wales  

The Digital Strategy seeks to achieve a real digital transformation of public services 
and provides an opportunity to support the ways of working described in the Well-
being of Future Generations (Wales) Act.  I would like you to ensure that as far as 
possible all your services are available online, and that people will choose to use these 
services because they are well designed and easy to use.  Please identify 
opportunities to work with partners in the cultural heritage sector on digital initiatives 
to promote use of your collections and resources and to promote learning, education 
and enjoyment.   

 

Pack Page 72



Dawn Bowden AS/MS 
Dirprwy Weinidog y Celfyddydau a Chwaraeon, a’r Prif Chwip 

Deputy Minister for Arts and Sport, and Chief Whip 

 
 

 

Lawrence Conway 
Chair – Sport Wales 
Sophia Gardens 
Cardiff  
CF11 9SW 
 

  22 December 2021 

Dear Lawrence, 

Term of Government Remit Letter for Sport Wales 
 
I would like to convey my thanks to Sport Wales for the important work it has 
undertaken in responding to the Covid-19 pandemic. The sponsored bodies in my 
portfolio have shown leadership, adaptability and resilience during challenging 
circumstances. We must now move to ensure Welsh Government investment supports 
the recovery of our sectors, our people and of Wales as a whole. Despite the very 
severe challenges it has presented, there is an opportunity for us to seek the positive 
learning from Covid-19 and to build on the increased awareness of the importance of 
sport to people’s physical and mental health and wellbeing.  
 
Our Programme for Government outlines the Welsh Government’s priorities and its 
commitments to the people of Wales. Sport is of vital importance to both our economy 
and to our national life. Our published commitments include promoting equal access 
to sport, supporting young and talented athletes and grassroots clubs, investing in our 
world-class sporting facilities and in new facilities, such as 3G pitches. I look forward 
to receiving your valuable support and expertise in taking these commitments forward. 
 
In return for the grant in aid funding the Welsh Government provides, I ask Sport Wales 
to consider how it can deliver its objectives in a way that is consistent with the values 
of the Welsh Government.  
 
Our shared goals should be: 

 Decarbonisation;  
 Addressing all inequality and achieving an anti-racist Wales;  
 Improving access and participation for all;  
 Promoting health and well-being; 
 Creating opportunities for young people; and  
 Projecting a powerful and positive image of Wales to the world. 

At Annex A, I have outlined the areas where I feel Sport Wales can contribute to 
delivering the Programme for Government. The current strategic context for the work 
of the Welsh Government’s sponsored bodies is captured at Annex B.  

Pack Page 73



 
 

2 
 

Partnership working is important in achieving our aim of widening access, participation 
and engagement. I am convinced that the sponsored bodies within my portfolio could 
achieve so much more by working collaboratively, and I encourage you to work 
together as leaders to maximise your impact. 
 
In addition to the key deliverables listed in Annex A, I expect Sport Wales to: 
 

 Work with all partners to make the best strategic use of “A Place for Sport” and 
other capital funding to support the Welsh Government’s ambitions in this area 
around investment in new and world-class sporting facilities, including the Sport 
Wales National Centres & Institute; 

 Ensure the Sport Wales Investment Model is informed by up-to-date insight, so 
that it remains accurate and fit for purpose; and 

 Maximize the opportunities of a digital offer by reviewing the digital 
infrastructure and capabilities of Sport Wales and its funded partners, 
identifying opportunities to improve the offer for current and potential users.  

 
I would like to remind you of your legal duty under the Children and Families (Wales) 
Measure 2010. Under Part 1, the Measure requires you to publish child poverty 
objectives as part of a strategy for contributing to the eradication of child poverty in 
Wales. I would like you to think about those actions which support the well-being of 
children and young people living in poverty. I encourage you to consider opportunities 
to discharge your legal obligations under the duty within your existing organisational 
processes, including those used to discharge other legislative requirements. 
 
In line with the Framework Document, which underpins the relationship between Sport 
Wales and the Welsh Government, you should now move to review your Business 
Plan, demonstrating how you will deliver against the areas outlined in this letter. 
 
The need for Sport Wales to act independently on a day-to-day basis is clear, and it is 
my intention that our relationship will continue to be based on mutual trust and respect, 
and on open and honest communication. 
 
There is much to do, but I am convinced that my portfolio can make a positive and 
lasting difference to people’s lives. I look forward to working with you to achieve this.  
 
Yours sincerely, 
 

 
 
 
Dawn Bowden AS/MS 
Deputy Minister for Arts and Sport, and Chief Whip 
 
cc Brian Davies, Acting Chief Executive, Sport Wales  

Pack Page 74



 
 

3 
 

ANNEX A: Key Deliverables 

For each of these key deliverables my officials will work with you to determine, 
and agree appropriate performance indicators in advance of the financial year 
2022-23. These performance indicators should be reported quarterly, as part of 
the regular monitoring arrangements, and throughout the duration of this term 
of Government. 
 

1. Provide effective, high quality and sustainable healthcare 

Our Programme for Government emphasises improving mental health provision and 
has a focus on prevention, supporting people to live healthy lives, tackling stigma in 
mental health, and introducing an all-Wales framework to roll out social prescribing as 
a means of tackling isolation. 

I would like Sport Wales to: 

 Implement ways of supporting good mental health across the organisation and 
the sector, ensuring that there is no stigma attached to mental health issues; 

 Ensure that the workforce is appropriately trained to support those suffering 
from mental health issues;  

 Continue to engage with the development of the proposed all-Wales framework 
for social prescribing, and, specifically, work to identify areas where Sport 
Wales could support social prescribing to tackle isolation and support well-
being; 

 Work alongside Welsh Government officials, Public Health Wales and Natural 
Resources Wales to develop a national physical activity framework that 
supports the preventative health, active travel, active education settings and 
active workplaces agendas, and creates opportunities and habits for physical 
activity to drive the nation’s mental and physical well-being; 

 Develop a behaviour change campaign, underpinned by primary research and 
community engagement, to better understand how to support specific groups 
to become more physically active and enjoy the benefits of sport.  

 

2. Protect, re-build and develop our services for vulnerable people 

The focus of the Programme for Government in this area relates to integrated care 
services, and supporting vulnerable citizens, including children, young people and 
families who face the greatest challenges. I believe our sponsored bodies should help 
the people of Wales to live meaningful lives, and must consider how they can improve 
their support to those people in vulnerable and / or disadvantaged groups. 

I would like Sport Wales to: 

 Ensure that the broadest range of vulnerable groups can engage with sport and 
physical activity in Wales and are not excluded from participation. This should 
include identifying and delivering specific opportunities that enable people in 
vulnerable or disadvantaged groups and those in under-represented 
communities to benefit from sport and physical activity; 

Pack Page 75



 
 

4 
 

 Consider the opportunities currently offered to looked after children and care 
leavers, and how these could be improved; 

 Be pro-active about ensuring that the organisation is supporting the Welsh 
Government’s commitment to being an age-friendly nation;  

 Review your current support for D/deaf communites and for those living with 
other disabilities, including hidden disabilities, and work towards a continued 
enhancement of these services. 
 

3. Build an economy based on the principles of fair work, sustainability and 
the industries and services of the future 

Aligning with strengthening our Economic Contract, our Programme for Government 
seeks to ensure a renewed focus on young people via the Young Person’s Guarantee. 
Social partnership, sustainable jobs, disabled people’s employment champions, and 
supporting local supply chains are key components of this commitment. 

I would like Sport Wales to: 

 Provide a new or improved range of options to support the young people of 
Wales into work – these could include apprenticeships, training, work 
experience and mentoring programmes and should be aligned with the Young 
Person’s Guarantee; 

 Use the new network of Disabled People’s Employment Champions to help 
close the gap between disabled people and the rest of the working population; 

 Work towards a minimum 30% target for working from home, based on a 
blended approach which is fair and equitable; 

 Develop and strengthen your existing procurement processes to help support 
local supply chains; 

 Build and strengthen local, regional, national and international partnerships for 
the benefit of Sport Wales, the Welsh economy and the people of Wales. 

  

4. Build a stronger, greener economy as we make maximum progress towards 
decarbonisation 

Our Programme for Government has an emphasis on sustainable growth, and on new 
digital, economic and transport infrastructures that can help re-energise our 
communities.  

I would like Sport Wales to: 

 Support the Welsh Government’s commitment to achieving a zero-carbon 
economy by working to become carbon neutral by 2030; 

 Support the Welsh Government’s target of 45% of journeys being undertaken 
by sustainable modes by 2040;   

 Prioritise a review of your current digital and communications infrastructure 
following the recent acceleration of digital activity during Covid-19. You should 
identify and address areas of weakness, look for examples of best practice 
within your organisation and by other organisations, and seek to build on the 
successes of 2020/21. 

 

Pack Page 76



 
 

5 
 

5. Embed our response to the climate and nature emergency in everything we 
do 

The Welsh Government is focused on a green transformation as part of our ambition 
to address the climate emergency. 

I would like Sport Wales to: 

 Focus on waste reduction across the whole of the organisation and work to 
achieve zero waste targets and abolishing the use of more commonly littered, 
single-use plastics; 

 Procure low-carbon products; 
 Establish green champions in the work place; 
 Ensure biodiversity impact is given due consideration as part of decision-

making; 
 Work with bodies such as WRAP Cymru and the Carbon Trust to support the 

sport sector in finding solutions to the climate and nature emergency. 
 
 

6. Continue our long-term programme of education reform, and ensure 
educational inequalities narrow and standards rise 

The Welsh Government will work with children and young people, their families and 
the education workforce to ensure the best outcomes for learners, particularly those 
who are most vulnerable. 

I would like Sport Wales to: 

 Implement and evaluate the Active Education Pathfinder Pilot Programme, and 
consider how it could be embedded to support the delivery of new curriculum 
and children’s health and well-being alongside specific support for the teaching 
profession in implementing the new curriculum, and wider consideration of how 
a reform of the school day and school year may impact on the services and 
opportunities the sport sector provides; 

 Develop future focused skills and employability programmes, encouraging 
young people into the sector; 

 Establish apprenticeships and volunteering opportunities to support and 
develop the next generation workforce. 
 
 

7. Celebrate diversity and move to eliminate inequality in all of its forms 

We must work together to achieve positive change, recognising our common humanity 
whilst celebrating diversity and difference. 

I would like Sport Wales to: 

 Prioritise diversity, inclusion and equality throughout the sector to ensure we 
understand and overcome barriers to participation; 

 Further develop your network of Regional Sports Partnerships to positively 
respond to local inequalities and promote sport and activity for all; 

Pack Page 77



 
 

6 
 

 Consider how the governance of the organisation supports the principles of 
'Reflecting Wales in Running Wales’ and move to urgently address any areas 
which require action – this must include improving diversity in the workforce and 
at Board level; 

 Implement the goals of the Race Equality Action Plan, considering how Sport 
Wales will directly contribute to delivering an anti-racist Wales; 

 Implement the goals of the LGBTQ+ Action Plan; 
 Address any remaining pay gaps based on gender, sexual orientation, ethnicity, 

disability, and other forms of discrimination which may exist in your 
organisation, and urgently address any ongoing pay disparities; 

 Ensure that the histories and cultures of our Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic 
communities are properly represented by Sport Wales and its delivery partners; 

 Continue to strengthen your partnerships with voluntary organisations across 
the range of your responsibilities; 

 Continue to support, fund and work with organisations that  bring the views and 
life experiences of under-represented groups impacted by your work into your 
decision making; 

 Work with the new network of Disabled People’s Employment Champions to 
help close the gap between disabled people and the rest of the working 
population; 

 Develop equality and diversity champions encompassing all protected 
characteristics; 

 Improve Sport Wales’ engagement with under-represented communities. 

 

8. Push forward towards a million Welsh speakers, and enable our tourism, 
sports and arts industries to thrive 

The Welsh Government’s arts, culture and sports sponsored bodies are key partners 
in widening access to our heritage, harnessing creativity, and developing the sporting 
ability of the people of Wales. The Programme for Government commits to ensuring 
that you have the support you need to maintain your proper place on the world stage, 
and your role in projecting Wales to the world is just as important. You are also key 
partners in supporting our commitment to achieving a million Welsh speakers by 2050. 

I would like Sport Wales to: 

 Respond to the Cymraeg 2050 strategy by continuing to increase the number 
of Welsh speakers, the use of the Welsh language, and by creating favourable 
conditions in which the Welsh language can thrive; 

 Continue to develop as a fully bilingual organisation as set out in the Welsh 
Language Standards (No. 2) Regulations 2016, including working in 
partnership with the National Centre for Learning Welsh to ensure that all staff 
have the opportunity and support to learn and use Welsh in the workplace; 

 Use the regional partnership approach to drive the development of Welsh 
medium sport offers; 

 Encourage National Governing Bodies and other funding recipients to consider 
the needs of Welsh speakers when planning and delivering services; 

Pack Page 78



 
 

7 
 

 Consider how it can support the aims of the Welsh Government’s ‘Welcome to 
Wales – Priorities for the visitor economy 2020-2025’ strategy in a sporting 
context. 

 Deliver a new, sustainable long term operating model for Plas Menai that 
maximises its contribution to tourism and wider social and economic impact of 
north Wales; 

 Provide support and advice to the Welsh Government and others in support of 
the UK’s bid to host the 2030 FIFA World Cup. 
 
 

9. Make our cities, towns and villages even better places in which to live and 
work 

Our Programme for Government commits to supporting our partners in local 
government, and, in relation to my portfolio responsibilities, it highlights how the Welsh 
Government wants to ensure that communities can thrive as centres of social 
exchange, leisure, sport and culture. 

I would like Sport Wales to: 

 Work with local communities, groups, and individuals to share good practice, 
develop skills, and to establish new and strong networks across Wales; 

 Work more closely with the Welsh Government to support the legacy impact of 
major events;  

 Continue to provide advice and guidance as appropriate on 21st Century 
Schools business cases and Community Facilities Programme applications. 

 

10. Lead Wales in a national civic conversation about our constitutional future, 
and give our country the strongest possible presence on the world stage 

The Programme for Government highlights the importance of Wales’ global 
relationships, of celebrating different cultures and embracing internationalism. 

Sport Wales has an important role to play in projecting Wales to the world. 

I would like Sport Wales to: 

 Develop international partnerships that bring benefit to Wales, enhance the 
international profile of Wales, and maximise opportunities to showcase Wales 
to the world; 

 Consider what actions it could take to respond to the British Council’s report 
“Towards a Welsh Sports Diplomacy Strategy”; 

 Work with National Governing Bodies and other key stakeholders to maximise 
the opportunities for Wales on the world stage presented by the 2022 
Commonwealth Games in Birmingham. 

  

Pack Page 79



 
 

8 
 

ANNEX B: The Strategic Context 

Other Strategic Priorities, Objectives and Commitments 
 
In addition to the deliverables in Annex A, the work of Sport Wales could also play an 
important part in contributing to and delivering other Welsh Government policy 
priorities during this term of government.  
 
The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 continues to be an important 
driver for our well-being priorities and our shared goals in Wales. The well-being 
objectives set out in the Programme for Government exist to support and enhance the 
delivery of these goals over this term of Government.  
 

A Greener Wales 

We are committed to addressing the climate and nature emergency. The Welsh 
Government has set out its commitment to achieving net zero emissions by 2050 and 
has published its All Wales Net Zero plan: Working Together to Reach Net Zero (2021-
2025).  Our ambition is that the public sector will be carbon neutral by 2030, leading 
the way in delivering a Net Zero Wales. To support this work we have published the 
Public Sector Net Zero Reporting Guide and the Public Sector Route-map will provide 
a clear framework for how the sector will achieve net zero by 2030. 

As well as reducing emissions we also need to build resilience to the impacts of climate 
change to ensure we can continue to deliver our key public services. The Climate 
Change Committee published its third Climate Change Risk Assessment for the UK, 
which highlights a range of risks and opportunities for the environment, communities 
and businesses resulting from a changing climate. The Welsh Public Sector must 
demonstrate it has understood and taken account of the risks and opportunities in 
delivering its services.  

In March 2021, the Welsh Government published ‘Beyond Recycling – a strategy to 
make the circular economy in Wales a reality’, which outlines our goals to become 
zero waste by 2050 and for making resource efficiency part of Welsh culture. Moving 
to a circular economy is essential to the delivery of key environmental actions, and I 
will want to see Sport Wales responding to the headline actions of this strategy.  

 

A Fairer Wales 

The Programme for Government shows how we intend to maximise fairness for all 
and eliminate inequality at every level of society. It looks at how we will address the 
systemic causes of inequality in all its forms.  

During this term of Government we will publish a new Race Equality Action Plan 
(REAP) for Wales, and an action plan for advancing LGBTQ+ equality in Wales. These 
action plans should be read alongside our Strategic Equality Plan, Gender Equality 
Plan and Framework for Action on Disability. They are designed to achieve sustained 
change in the short, medium and long term, and our sponsored bodies must 
demonstrate a clear and pro-active response to achieving the goals set out in these 
plans.   

Pack Page 80



 
 

9 
 

We have already undertaken an audit of the Welsh Government’s services for the 
D/deaf community and the Programme for Government also commits to taking action 
to support disabled people. There is still much to do to enable them to engage with 
sports and physical activity and this must be a priority. 

We are committed to reaching out to and engaging with Wales’ vulnerable groups, 
ensuring Wales is an age-friendly nation, and that poverty, social disadvantage, ill 
health and disability should not be a barrier for those who want to participate in sport 
and physical activity. The Welsh Government’s sponsored bodies should keep their 
work with these groups under constant review and should be exemplars of good 
practice in widening access and tackling social exclusion, with Sport Wales taking 
clear responsibility for ensuring that vulnerable groups can engage appropriately with 
sport in Wales.   

 

A Healthier Wales 

The Welsh Government believes that culture, the arts and sport offer a means of 
improving the health and wellbeing of a nation. Participation must therefore continue 
to be an area of focus. I would like to see the sponsored bodies in my portfolio 
engaging with new and diverse stakeholders, working with under-represented 
audiences and communities, and actively expressing the link between your work and 
the health and wellbeing of the people of Wales.   

 

Other strategies and existing legislation 

The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 continues to be an 
important driver for our wellbeing priorities and shared goals in Wales. The wellbeing 
objectives set out in the Programme for Government exist to support and enhance the 
delivery of these goals over this new term of government.  

Our Economic Action Plan is based on the principle of public investment with a social 
purpose. Central to the Plan is the Economic Contract that requires those receiving 
investment from the Welsh Government to demonstrate inclusive growth, fair work, 
promotion of health (with a special emphasis on mental health), skills and learning in 
the workplace, and progress in reducing carbon footprint.  

Our commitment to fair work and sustainability and the industries and services of the 
future includes delivering the young person’s guarantee and a promise of creating 
125,000 all age apprenticeships. I expect you to seek opportunities to contribute to the 
Young Person’s Guarantee and our goal of delivering 125,000 apprenticeships 
throughout the term of government. 

Our Programme for Government commits to strengthening this Economic Contract 
and we will continue to monitor your progress in delivering against the pillars of this 
plan. 

I believe our sporting and cultural sponsored bodies have a significant role to play in 
raising Wales’ international profile, in sharing our nation’s individual and collective 
successes and histories with the world.  
 

Pack Page 81



 
 

10 
 

The Welsh Government’s International Strategy outlines three priority ambitions, our 
existing partnerships and our priority international relationships. I would ask you to 
work closely with the Welsh Government’s International Relations Team during this 
term of Government to both lead and contribute to campaigns, programmes and 
projects which help Wales stand out on the world stage.   
 
Part of this work should include your response to the British Council’s report “Towards 
a Welsh Sports Diplomacy Strategy”. Working with the Welsh diaspora and with 
targeted international partners for mutual economic, cultural and social benefit should 
be reflected in your strategic and operational plans.  
 
Sport Wales is an important partner in terms of Welsh tourism. Growing the sporting 
tourism offer continues to be a priority and ‘Welcome to Wales – Priorities for the visitor 
economy 2020-2025’ should be reflected in your business planning, and I urge you to 
create and maintain strong links with the Welsh Government’s tourism development 
team in furthering this area of work. 
 

The Welsh language 

The Cymraeg 2050 strategy continues to be an area of focus in our efforts to achieve 
the wellbeing goal of a thriving Welsh language, and of reaching a million Welsh 
speakers by 2050. I expect the Welsh language to be thoroughly embedded in all that 
you do, celebrating bilingualism and enabling the people of Wales to use the language 
as part of their everyday lives. The results of the 2021 Census will be known during 
this term of Government, and we will update the Cymraeg 2050 work programme for 
the strategy, but the three main themes will remain – increasing the number of Welsh 
speakers, increasing the use of the Welsh language, and creating favourable 
conditions in which the Welsh language can thrive.  

 

Cultural strategy  

During this term of Government we will create and publish a new cultural strategy for 
Wales which will define our cultural priorities for the years ahead. As key partners, I 
would like to see the sponsored bodies in my portfolio participating in the development 
of the new strategy and, once published, the strategy should underpin much of your 
long-term planning and operational activity.  

A new Wales Infrastructure Investment Strategy will also be developed during this term 
of Government, linking decisions on capital investment with the delivery of key 
strategic outcomes. It is our expectation that capital grant recipients will provide 
quantitative evidence demonstrating how the investment is helping to deliver those 
outcomes.  

 

Digital Strategy for Wales  

The Digital Strategy seeks to achieve a real digital transformation of public services 
and provides an opportunity to support the ways of working described in the Well-
being of Future Generations (Wales) Act. I would like you to ensure that as far as 

Pack Page 82



 
 

11 
 

possible, all your services are available online and that people will choose to use these 
services because they are well-designed and easy to use. Please identify 
opportunities to work with partners in the sport sector on digital initiatives to promote 
engagement with sport and to promote learning, education and enjoyment.   

 

 

Pack Page 83



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 84

Agenda Item 8 By virtue of paragraph(s) ix of Standing Order 17.42



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 103

Agenda Item 9By virtue of paragraph(s) ix of Standing Order 17.42



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 107

Agenda Item 10By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 111

By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42


	Agenda
	2 One day inquiry on International Relations: Diaspora and international
	4 One day inquiry on International Relations: Sports, culture and arts (international)
	Written evidence from Urdd Gobaith Cymru

	5.1 Welsh Government response to the Culture, Communications, Welsh Language, Sport, and International Relations Committee’s 'Small Screen: Big Debate' Report
	5.2 Letter from the Deputy Minister for Arts and Sport, and Chief Whip to the Chair of the Culture, Communications, Welsh Language, Sport, and International Relations Committee regarding the Term of Government Remit Letters to Welsh Government Sponsored Bodies
	Cover Letter
	ToG Remit letter AC-NMW
	ToG Remit letter ACW
	ToG Remit Letter NLW
	ToG Remit letter RCAHMW
	ToG Remit Letter SW

	8 Scrutiny of Welsh Government Draft Budget 2022-23: Consideration of draft Report
	9 Review of the committee timetable and committee remits: Consideration of draft correspondence
	10 Legislative Consent Memorandum on the Cultural Objects (Protection from seizure) Bill: Consideration of Legal Advice Note
	Legal Services Advice to Committees and Members


